"OPEN DOOR" (c) 2006, Sean Watkin
LONDON, ENGLAND.  PRESENT DAY.

UNIVERSITY OF LONDON.  HALLS OF RESIDENCE CAMPUS

Scene 001:


(Int.) Corridor/Tina’s room


20:30




TINA BRENNAN





VERONICA GRASS





PATRICIA ROWLANDS





BOY #1





BOY #2





FRANK TURNER

The corridors of this old building have a wet-feeling of cold.

Strong wind from outside blows through the cracks in the door, blowing through the corridor, ruffling posters, notice boards and flyers on the walls.

We turn a corner and enter Tina’s room, 305.

Inside, we find Tina sitting at her laptop typing away, and her two friends, Veronica and Patricia, behind her fussing with their ball gowns.

Tina turns to both of them with a smile.





TINA




You both look so pretty. . .





VERONICA

Oh Tina, dahling! You really ought to come along.  It’s going to be fahbulous.  And I’d love to see you in something other than those jeans.  I bet there’s a woman underneath the Levis.


TINA

I’ve got lots of work to catch up on, V, or I would.


VERONICA

But it’s the Spring Formal, dahling.  Our chahnce to-

PATRICIA

Oh Veronica, leave her to it, honey! She’s probably goin’ to be chattin’ to lover-boy-Frank anyway. . .

Veronica giggles.





TINA

Leave it out you two! I swear, you’re like a pair of virgin school-girls at times.


VERONICA

Why on earth you still see him I shall never know.  He lives absolutely miles away.

TINA

I’m in love with him, V.

Veronica zips up Patricia’s dress.  The zip gets stuck.





VERONICA




Dahling, have you put on weight? The zip won’t fahsten.





PATRICIA




I haven’t eaten anything but soup in seven days. . .




VERONICA




Oh.  Well maybe it just shrunk in the wardrobe?





PATRICIA




Sarcasm is a lower form of whit.





VERONICA

And Rivita is a lower form of fat-intake.  Take the hint, dahling.

Veronica and Patricia laugh.

Tina stands and helps Veronica zip up the gown.





PATRICIA




Thank you, ladies.





TINA




Ah, you look so lovely.





VERONICA

And you could to.  If only you’d prise yourself away from that bloody machine for a few hours.


PATRICIA

Uh-oh.  She said ‘bloody’.  She only a few steps away from actual swearing.  You’re pissing her off Tina. . .


TINA

I’d really love to come, V.  But my lecturer is being a pain.  Wants my work in for tomorrow afternoon.


PATRICIA

My friend Susan had him last year.  Said he was an annoying little prick.


TINA

Oh she did Creative Writing & Lit. too?

PATRICIA




No honey, she fucked him.

Tina and Patricia laugh.  Veronica acts shocked.





VERONICA




I’m disgusted

PATRICIA




No you’re not. . .





VERONICA

Well in principle I am.  But I’ve heard he’s, you know.  Copulated with many of the female student body.


TINA

[Looks away from the other girls:]

Yeah. . .

A knock at the door.





VERONICA




That’ll be the boys. . .  Do I have lipstick on my teeth?





PATRICIA




No.  Do I look like I have a moustache?





VERONICA

Really, Patricia Anne Rowlands.  I told you to get that thing bleached.  If you haven’t bothered as of yet, I’m not going to bother checking.


TINA

No, Patricia.  You don’t. . . 

A knock again.





VERONICA




Maybe we should take a Mach3 just in case.

Tina rises to answer the door as the other two laugh.





VERONICA




Thank you for the loan of your room to get ready in.





TINA




That’s okay. . .

Tina waits, with her hand on the handle, while the girls make a few last minute checks and alterations.





PATRICIA

Now Tina, don’t you be givin’ that boyfriend of yours any kinda peep-show.  Actually, do.  Then you can post yourself on one of them porno sites and make some money.


TINA

You’re lovely.  And insulting.  Please leave.

Tina pulls the door open.  Two strapping young gentlemen are standing there.





TINA




Evenin’ boys.  Lookin’ good.





 BOY #1 / # 2




Thank you. / I know.

Veronica and Patricia leave with the boys.





PATRICIA




Night, Tina. . .





VERONICA




Have a pleasant evening.





TINA




G’night.  Speak to you both tomorrow. . .

Tina closes the door, locking and bolting it too.

With a smile, she moves back toward her laptop, switching the main light off on the way.
She opens a window on her lap-top and we see her boyfriend, Frank Turner, on his web-cam via a messenger service.

We can see Tina on her webcam in a smaller window underneath Frank’s.





FRANK’S IM




“wot r u up 2?”





TINA’S IM

“Nothing.  Need to write a short story for my class.  The girls have just left.”


FRANK’S IM

“wot’s it about?”


TINA’S IM

“I haven’t started it yet!”

Another window pops up.  Name: “WAP CONNECTION”.





WAP IM




“Hello.  How are you, Tina?”





TINA’S IM




“Who is this?”





WAP IM




“Guess. . .”





TINA’S IM




“Get lost!”

Tina closes that window and re-opens her one with Frank.





FRANK’S IM




“gud.  That means u can chat 2 me sum more.”





TINA’S IM




“You’re eager.”





FRANK’S IM




“can’t help myself.  U luk hot!”





TINA’S IM




“I’m gonna try to write something.  Give me a few minutes.”





FRANK’S IM




“OK babe x”





WAP IM




“No.”

Tina closes and ignores it.

She starts typing away while she smokes a cigarette.

She sighs and hits the delete button.





TINA




Who am I kidding?

With another sigh, Tina moves to the window, throws her cigarette butt out, and watches as the other students leave.  She struggles with controlling the window against the wind.





TINA




And then there was one.

Tina moves back to her desk.





TINA’S IM




“I’m going to make some food.  I’ll be right back.”





FRANK’S IM



“it’s brb”





TINA’S IM




“Excuse me?”





FRANK’S IM




“brb.  It stands for be right back.”





TINA’S IM




“You’re such a geek.  Brb then.”

Tina moves into her kitchenette and opens the fridge.

Amongst the various debris, she finds some salad.

She looks at it with a less than satisfied glance.





TINA




Fuck the diet.

She opens the freezer and pulls out some chips and sausages.

She reads the box.





TINA




Microwavable.  Always a plus.

She puts both in the microwave and moves to her en-suite bathroom.

She looks in the mirror and pulls at the skin around her eyes.





TINA




God, I look thirty years old.





CUT TO:

Scene 002:


(Int.) Security Office



21:00





SECURITY OFFICER
We pan around and find the Security Officer fast asleep in his chair.

The CCTV monitors begin to crackle and distort.

We see a shadow in one of them, but suddenly they snap into black.





CUT TO:

Scene 003:


(Int.) Tina’s Room



21:05





TINA BRENNAN





FRANK TURNER





THE GUY

A knock at the front door.

Tina switches off the bathroom light and runs to it, unbolting it.

When she opens it, there’s nobody there.





TINA




Knock and run is for children, boys!

She slams the door shut and locks it again as she hears a crackling from the kitchen.





TINA




Shit!

We follow Tina into the kitchen where she deals with the microwave food.

We move backward to the front door, without Tina now, and see the door handle is turning.  The door cannot open due to the bolt.

We pan around and Tina is walking back in with her food on a plate.  She takes a seat at her computer.

She sits typing away for a few minutes then giggles.





TINA




Peter Johanson is gonna love this.

She opens up her window with Frank again.

FRANK’S IM




“have I eva told u I love ur arse?”





TINA’S IM

“Yes.  Many times.  I finally started writing.  It’s a perverse horror.”


FRANK’S IM

“is there n-e other kind?”

A loud bang.  Tina screams before realising it’s the branch of a tree outside on her window.





TINA




Bloody hell!

Tina starts picking at her food.





TINA




[Sighs:] Mayonnaise.

Tina returns through to the kitchen.

Something moves in the main part of the room, but we’re not quite sure what.  Some shadow cast oddly where it should not be.

After a few moments, Tina returns and finds the front door completely open.

She frowns, confused, but lets it go, and closes the door again.  Bolting and locking it.

She sits down at her laptop again.  Begins to type enthusiastically at her document.

We can see, but she cannot, that the closet door behind her starts to open very, very slowly.

Finally, she hears it creak and it stops opening.  Tina stands and moves toward it slowly.

She reaches it finally and places her hand on the handle.

She pulls it open suddenly and peers into the darkness.

She can hear something move within.  Painfully aware of her heart-beat, she pushes all of her clothes to one side and pulls the chord to switch the light on.

A small squeak and Tina notices a small rodent running along the floor.  She screams at first then smiles.





TINA




Terry! How the hell did you get out?

Tina picks up the small hamster and carries him to his cage near her desk.

She places him back in.

TINA




And no escaping this time!

Tina returns to her desk and WAP CONNECTION’S I-M is back on the screen.





WAP CONNECTION’S I-M




“I like that sound.”





TINA’S I-M




“What sound?”

A bubble pops up next to the window, reading “WAP CONNECTION is playing File: “Screamer”.

The sound coming out from Tina’s laptop is the scream she did when she found Terry.





TINA’S I-M




“Fuck you!”

Tina closes the window, a bit shaken now.  She opens Frank’s window again.





FRANK’S I-M




“Terry get out again?”





TINA’S I-M

“As usual. . . Listen, someone keeps messaging me on here.  It’s starting to scare me.”

As she’s typing that message, she doesn’t notice, but The Guy rises under the covers of her bed behind her.

The Guy pulls the covers off of him, and puts them to one side.  As The Guy rises, we can see he’s dressed in dark jeans and a black hoody, covering his face with shadows.

He walks toward Tina.





FRANK’S I-M




“Relax.  It’s probably sum1 with ur I-M addy trying to scare u.”





TINA’S I-M




“Yeah, I suppose.  It’s working though.”





FRANK’S I-M




“Who’s that?”





TINA’S I-M




“Who’s who?”





FRANK’S I-M




“Behind u. . .”

Tina notices something shift behind her on her view of her web cam.

She turns, just as The Guy’s fist is coming toward her face.

Tina screams and darts from her place, his fist hitting the computer.

Tina heads for the front door and tries to drag it open.  It won’t budge, the bolt is on.

The Guy comes up behind her, throwing another punch.

It crashes through the wood as Tina ducks out of the way.  She’s sobbing now.





FRANK’S I-M




“Oh my god! R u OK? Wot’s goin on?”

The Guy lands a punch directly to Tina’s face.  She hits the ground, her face bleeding.

The Guy picks her up, grips her hair and yanks it backward.





FRANK’S I-M




“I’m callin the police.”

The Guy drags Tina, screaming, toward her window where the branch taps.

The Guy takes hold of her neck, choking her a little.

Then he throws her through the window, the glass smashing and falling like clear snow flakes.

The Guy turns away and heads for the door.

We hear the door slam shut and the bolt go across, but we’re on our way to Tina’s laptop.





FRANK’S I-M

“Tina?” [Nothing for a few moments then a beep as another message comes through:] “I’ve called the police…” [Another sound:] “Tina, u there?”


CUT TO:

Scene 004:


(Int.) Chamber’s Home (Office)

08:00





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





ROBIN CHAMBERS

The sun is shining through the window here.  We can hear birds singing in the trees in the front yard.

Chambers is hunched over the desk, fast asleep.

A cup of coffee is slammed down next to him.  He jumps up.  Robin is standing there.

ROBIN

You have work in an hour.  I suggest you take a shower and shave.  You’re starting to look homeless.  And the boys are forgetting they even have a father.



CHAMBERS

Robin, I’m sorry, I must have-

ROBIN

Fallen asleep? Yeah.  Last night you fell asleep in your office.  The night before, you fell asleep in me.  I’m not sure how much more I can take, Michael.  It’s like being married to a ghost.



CHAMBERS

I’m sorry, I-



ROBIN
I have to get our sons ready for school.

Robin leaves.

Chambers puts his head back onto the desk with a thud.

CUT TO:

Scene 005:


(Int) Chamber’s Office (P/Station)

09:30





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD – “CHIEF”

Chambers looks totally different now.  Clean-shaven and presentable.

Chambers’ office is covered with photographs and crime scene analysis.

The door opens and Pinewood enters.

Chamber stands to greet him.

CHAMBERS




Chief.  How are you?

PINEWOOD




Good, Chambers.  Good.  How’s the wife?





CHAMBERS




She’s good thank you.





PINEWOOD




And the kids?

CHAMBERS




They’re good also.





PINEWOOD




I’m surprised you can even remember their names, Chambers.





CHAMBERS




Chief?





PINEWOOD

You spend most of your time here.  When you are at home, you’re not actually there.  You’re still here.  Amongst all this shit.


CHAMBERS

You’ve spoken to Robin. . .



PINEWOOD

She’s worried about you, Chambers.  We both are.



CHAMBERS

There’s no need to be.

Pinewood pulls down a photograph of a mutilated corpse.
PINEWOOD

No need to be? You’ve surrounded yourself in here with pictures of dead men.  If you start taking that home with you, you start to become one.  Just some dead man.



CHAMBERS

Chief, I know this, bu-


PINEWOOD

I’m taking you off of this case, Chambers.


CHAMBERS

You can’t do that. . .


PINEWOOD

Chambers, you’re one of my best detectives.  This case is ruining you.


CHAMBERS

Just gimme another week, Chief, please. . .


PINEWOOD

I’ve already handed the case to Stamford.


CHAMBERS

Stamford? He’s not ready for anything like this. . .


PINEWOOD

I guess we’ll soon see. . .


CHAMBERS

I’m not going back to investigating rape and robberies, Chief, I just can’t. . .

PINEWOOD

Relax Chambers.  There’s something new I want you on.  Give you some fresh perspective.  It’s a murder, so you should feel right at home.  [Pinewood hands Chambers a piece of paper:] Go get Detective Prescott and I’ll meet you at the car.


CHAMBERS

Prescott? She’s only just made detective. . .


PINEWOOD

Chambers, please don’t argue with me.  I haven’t had my coffee yet, so I can’t be held responsible for what I do to you if you argue.


CHAMBERS

Yes, sir. . .


CUT TO:

Scene 006:


(Ext.) Tina’s Murder Crimescene

10:00





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD





OFFICER #1





PRESCOTT



So what have we got?





PINEWOOD




Some poor student thrown from her bedroom window.





CHAMBERS




Any witnesses?





PINEWOOD

Uniform are checking that out right now.  Highly doubtful though.


PRESCOTT

Why’s that?

Chambers points to a flyer advertising the ball on a post.

A uniformed officer, OFFICER #1, brings over a laptop in a plastic bag.

He offers it to Pinewood.





PINEWOOD




What’s this?

OFFICER #1




We found it in the victim’s bedroom, sir.





PINEWOOD

Well, Officer, Detective Chambers is in charge here.  [Beat.]  What would you like this Officer to do with the evidence?


CHAMBERS

I want you to take it to the Lab for analysis ASAP.  The victim was having an instant-message conversation with the guy who dialled 9-9-9.  Make sure they get into that.  Retrieve whatever they can.  We need to get an e-mail address for this guy and pull up any profiles he might have on the Net attached to that address.  We need a full name.  An address if possible.  Or a phone number.


OFFICER #1

Yes, sir.  There was one more thing. . .


CHAMBERS

Yes?


OFFICER #1

Sir, we had to break in to the room.  The door was locked from the inside.

Chambers and Prescott exchange a look.

CHAMBERS




Thank you, Officer.  Good work.

Chambers looks down at the body of Tina, as Crimescene photographers snap pictures.





CUT TO:

Scene 007:


(Int.) Coroner’s Office


21:00





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT





DOCTOR SUZANNE WRIGHT

Tina’s body is laying on a steel examination table, pale and waxen.

The three are standing over her.

Prescott has a pen and pad, taking notes.





CHAMBERS




So what have we got here, Dr Wright?





WRIGHT




I’m guessing you already know her name?





PRESCOTT

Tina Brennan.  Twenty-one years old.  Originally from Essex.  Was attending the University on a Creative Writing & English Literature course.  Popular amongst her friends.  But she was the only person left in that building during the Social.


WRIGHT

[To Chambers:] New Detective?


CHAMBERS

New Detective. . .

WRIGHT

Well the victim died essentially from strangulation.  You can see the bruising around her neck.  Her larynx was crushed.  Whoever did this to her, detectives, was extremely strong.

PRESCOTT

A male?


CHAMBERS

Probably. . .


WRIGHT

Her spine and neck were also broken, although probably due to the fall.  Also, some of the hair is missing from the crown.  Maybe the perpetrator pulled it out in the struggle.


PRESCOTT

Or took it with him as a trophy?


CHAMBERS

Very good, Detective Prescott.


PRESCOTT

Thank you. . .


CHAMBERS

Anything else, Doctor Wright? Any signs of sexual assault?


WRIGHT

No, that’s it.


CHAMBER

Well we better get going.  My wife is gonna kick my arse as it is.  Thank you for your time, Dr Wright.


PRESCOTT

Yes, thank you. . .

Prescott leads the way out.

Chambers follows, after smiling at Wright.





WRIGHT




How is everything, Michael?





CHAMBERS




Everything’s okay.





WRIGHT




You look ill.  Is that wife of yours looking after you?

CHAMBERS

As always.  It’s me that’s not looking after her.  I guess that’s the problem.


WRIGHT

I see.  You know, Michael, I’m here if you want to talk to me.


CHAMBERS

I know, Suzanne.  Thank you.


WRIGHT

Any time.

Chambers smiles and leaves.

Prescott is waiting in the corridor for him.





PRESCOTT




Everything okay, Chambers?





CHAMBERS

Everything’s fine, Detective Prescott.  You just write your notes.

Chambers walks past Prescott, who hangs back for a moment, a little deflated.





CUT TO:

Scene 008:


(Int.) Chamber’s Home (Kitchen/Bedroom)21:45





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





ROBIN CHAMBERS

Robin is sitting at the dinner table with a bottle of wine in front of her.

Chambers enters the kitchen and walks to her to kiss her, Robin is indifferent.





CHAMBERS

I’m sorry, Robin.  The Chief put me on a new case.  I had some things to tie up with Dr Wright at the Coroner’s Office.
ROBIN

With Suzanne?


CHAMBERS

With the doctor who did the Coroner’s Report on the case I’m working on.


ROBIN

I see.


CHAMBERS

Robin, please.  Suzanne and I are so far over.  She means nothing to me.  I love you.


ROBIN

Your dinner’s in the oven, Michael.  I’ll see you in the morning when I wake you up in your Office.

Robin leaves the kitchen without further conversation.

Later, in the bedroom, we see Robin is lying awake on her side of the bed.

The door opens and Chambers walks in, dressed in his pyjama bottoms.  He climbs into bed, and we can see Robin is so shocked he’s here. 

He holds her close.





CHAMBERS

I’m so sorry.  I won’t ask you for forgiveness for my actions.  But just know that I love you.

Robin turns around and they start to kiss.

ROBIN




I forgive you.

From there, a spark of something that leads to making-love.

As she reaches her climax, we see that Robin is crying.





CUT TO:

Scene 009:


(Int.) Chamber’s Office (P/Station)

08:30

DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCTOTT





DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN 




PINEWOOD

Chambers and Prescott are sitting at the desk opposite each other.

Chambers seems different today, he’s smiling.  Prescott doesn’t know how to deal with this sudden change.





PRESCOTT

Is everything okay with you? If I didn’t know better, I’d say you were almost chipper.  Run over somebody’s pet dog on the way in today?


CHAMBERS

No.  And very funny.  I’m just.  Happy, I guess.


PRESCOTT

Well can you go back to being you.  I feel like I’m in an X-Files episode.

Pinewood enters the room.





PINEWOOD




Good morning.  Sorry I’m late.

CHAMBERS




Morning, Chief.  You okay?





PINEWOOD




What’s happened?





CHAMBERS




What do you mean?





PINEWOOD




Are you smiling?

Prescott whistles The X-Files theme tune.





PINEWOOD




So what have you got for me, detectives?





CHAMBERS

As you know, the victims name was Tina Brennan.  Dr Wright told us that she died from strangulation.  Her larynx was crushed.


PINEWOOD

What else?


PRESCOTT

Well as we know, the victim was having an instant message conversation via the Internet with the guy who called the Emergency Services Line.  The Lab were able to pull up the entire conversation history, including web-cam images.

Chambers hands Pinewood various print-outs of web-cam images.

Pinewood stops at the one where The Guy is approaching Tina from behind.





PINEWOOD

Shit. . .  [Beat.]  Do we have a name for the guy she was talking to yet?


CHAMBERS

Yes.  Frank Turner.


PINEWOOD

Address?


PRESCOTT

He attends the University in Leeds, sir.  Should we hand him over to them for questioning?

PINEWOOD

No.  I’ll get on the phone to Yorkshire Police so we’re not treading on any toes, but I want you up there.  Both of you.  Question him.  Bring him in if you have to.  This guy could be the key to your case.  What about the door locks.


PRESCOTT

Officer’s on the scene had to break in.


CHAMBERS

Officers and Forensics both searched the room and the exterior.  No perpetrator.  No finger-prints or foot or shoe impressions outside the window.


PINEWOOD

So the only link you have right is this Turner guy.  Get up there, detectives.


PRESCOTT

Yes, sir.


PINEWOOD

And Chambers. . .


CHAMBERS

Yes, Chief?


PINEWOOD

Make sure you see Robin before you leave.  Pack for a few days, detectives.  Call me every morning and evening with any updates.  Good luck.

Pinewood leaves.





PRESCOTT




Looks like a trip to me, Chambers.





CHAMBERS




Let’s go, Prescott.





CUT TO:

Scene 010:


(Int.) Chamber’s Home (Bedroom)

09:15





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





ROBIN CHAMBERS

Chambers is packing some things into a bag.

Robin is sitting on the end of the bed watching, her face less than happy.





ROBIN




And you have to go?





CHAMBERS




You know I do, baby.  And that I wouldn’t if I didn’t have to.





ROBIN

I know.  It’s just.  Things seem to be starting to go okay for us again.  And you’re going away.


CHAMBERS

Just for a few days.  I’ll be back before you know it.


ROBIN

I’m going to miss you, Michael.  The kids, too.

Chambers moves to Robin, stopping what he’s doing.

He takes her hands and makes her stand, kisses her.





CHAMBERS




I still have two hours before I pick Prescott up.





ROBIN




Oh really, Detective Chambers?





CHAMBERS




Yes, really. . .

Chambers and Robin kiss, falling back onto the bed.

His bag and clothes fall onto the floor.





CUT TO:

LEEDS, NOTHERN ENGLAND.

Scene 011:


(Int.) Frank’s Home (Living Room)
18:30





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT





FRANK TURNER





PC CHERYL TRENTWORTH





PC PAUL MILLER

Frank’s home is large.  The living room is beautifully decorated.

Prescott and Chambers sit opposite Frank, with two Yorkshire Police Uniform Officers, PCs Trentworth and Miller.  The two PCs are taking notes.
PRECOTT




You have a nice home, Mister Turner.





FRANK




Thank you. . .





CHAMBERS




A little pricey for a student, though?





FRANK

My father is a very successful lawyer back in Essex.  He pays for all of this.


CHAMBERS

So you live here alone?


FRANK

I like my space, Detective Chambers.


CHAMBERS

I see.


PRESCOTT

Mister Turner, I know this is hard for you, but we need to ask you-


FRANK

Some questions?


CHAMBERS

You sound like you do this a lot.


FRANK

Not at all.  I’ve just seen The Bill from time to time.

Trentworth and Miller roll their eyes.




CHAMBERS




How did you know the-





PRESCOTT




-Tina?





FRANK

We both attended the same high school in Essex.  After that, we were seeing each other.  Sort of.


CHAMBERS

Sort of?


FRANK

Having a long-term relationship was something neither of us wanted.  But we couldn’t help ourselves.  I guess you could say we were in love.


PRESCOTT

Why did you both leave Essex?


FRANK

We all did.  The group Tina and I used to hang with in high school.  We all left Essex after. . .


CHAMBERS

After?


FRANK

A friend of ours went missing.  They still don’t know where he is today.


CHAMBERS

What was your friend’s name? The one that went missing.

FRANK

Stephen Kenny.  [Beat.]  So when University came, we all decided to move away.  I came here; Tina went to London; the others went to Wales, Aberdeen, the Midlands and the South West somewhere.

CHAMBERS

That’s a fair distance away from each other.


FRANK

After Stephen went missing, we didn’t talk much.  I guess we wanted to get as far away from each other as possible.


PRESCOTT

Why’s that?


FRANK

I don’t know.  Guilt I guess.


CHAMBERS

Guilt?


FRANK

Stephen went missing while on a camping trip to The Lake District with us.  He went for a walk and never came back.  We couldn’t find him.  Letting people down usually leaves you with a feeling of guilt, ya know, Detective Chambers?


CHAMBERS

Okay, Mister Turner, we have your official statement already, but if there’s anything else we need, we will be in touch.  So please stay close.


FRANK

Sure.  Of course.


PRESCOTT

Thank you for your time, Mister Turner.


CUT TO:

THREE YEARS EARLIER

THE LAKE DISTRICT

Scene 012:


(Ext.) Wood Clearing


18:30





STEPHEN KENNY





FRANK TURNER





TINA BRENNAN





ANDREW FARNHAM





CHARLIE SHEPHERD





SARAH MEADOWS





MICHELLE DOWNES

Frank, Charlie and Andrew are putting up the tents.

Tina and Michelle are trying to start a fire.

Stephen and Sarah are sitting on logs, doing nothing.  Not even speaking.





SARAH




I hate it already.





CHARLIE

Ah, babe.  Don’t worry about it.  You got four men here to look after you.  [Looks at Stephen:] Well almost. . .

Tina notices this and sighs.





TINA

Shouldn’t you be putting up that tent or beating your chest or something?


CHARLIE

Shouldn’t you be cooking the guys some food or washing our socks in the lake?


MICHELLE

I’ll cook your head in that pan if you carry on with that kind of chauvinistic outburst.


SARAH

Chauvi-what?


TINA

Maybe we should stick to one or two syllable words, Michelle.


CHARLIE

Yeah, whatever.


ANDREW

Someone should probably get some water.

All the boys look to Stephen.





STEPHEN




Probably should be me then. . .

Stephen heads out of the clearing toward the lake.





STEPHEN




I’ll be right back.





CHARLIE

Hey glasses! Make sure there’s nothing in the water you bring back.  I don’t want no dead fish floating in my tea, ya hear?!

Stephen ignores Charlie and walks on.





FRANK




The poor guy. . .

CHARLIE




Oh shut up, he’s only gone to get some water. . .





FRANK




No, I meant.  Ah, forget it. . .





TINA




No, what do you mean?





FRANK




Didn’t you hear at school?





SARAH




Hear what?





FRANK

His dad walked out on him when he was five.  Lives with his grandparents now.


ANDREW

What about his mother?


FRANK

Paula Kenny? She died when he was born.


TINA

I heard she was writer.  Had this pseudonym.


SARAH

Pseudo-what?


TINA

Never mind. . .

MICHELLE




The poor guy. . .

Everyone stands in a moment of quiet.





CHARLIE




Fuck that.  Let’s get wasted. . .





CUT TO:

PRESENT DAY

Scene 013:


(Int.) Frank’s Home (Living Room)
20:15





FRANK TURNER





CHARLIE SHEPHERD





MICHELLE DOWNES

Frank is on the telephone to Charlie.





CHARLIE

Frank, what the hell are you doing calling me? We said we weren’t going to do this. . .


FRANK

Charlie.  Tina is dead.


CHARLIE

What? How?


FRANK

She was murdered.  Strangled and thrown out of her window.


CHARLIE

My god. . .


FRANK

I watched the whole thing on web-cam.  There was nothing I could do. . .


CHARLIE

Frank, man, I’m sorry for your loss and everything.  But what exactly would you like me to do about it?


FRANK

Excuse me?!


CHARLIE

I don’t understand why you’re calling. . .


FRANK

One of our friends is dead, Charlie! She’s dead!


CHARLIE

One of our friends is already dead.


FRANK

He could have-


CHARLIE

Don’t be bloody stupid.  There’s no way he could have survived.  All this time.  [Beat.]  Frank, I need to go.  I’ll call you tomorrow.


FRANK

No, Charlie, wait!

Charlie hangs up.

Frank sighs and puts down his receiver.

His mobile phone rings out.  He flips it open, and the screen reads: “You have 1 new e-mail”.  Frank clicks “Read”.

On the phone’s screen loads a picture of Frank talking on the telephone.  It’s taken from outside the house.  Underneath the picture is some text: “who was on the phone, frank?”

Frank closes his phone and rushes to the window.  He tries to see, but outside is pitch-black.

He screams suddenly when a face appears in the window before him.  It’s Michelle.  She motions for him to open the front door.

Frank runs through the hallway and opens the front door.





MICHELLE




Sorry I scared you.





FRANK




[Laughs.]  That’s alright.  Come in, come in.. . .





CUT TO:

Scene 014:


(Int.) Sarah’s Room – Uni Campus

20:30





SARAH MEADOWS





GIRL #1





GIRL #2

Sarah, Girl #1 & Girl #2 are talking.  Music and the news on the TV are on in the background.





GIRL #1




Well I head that’s why he got fired from-





SARAH




Oh my god. . .

Sarah gets to her feet and switches off the music, turning up the TV volume.

A small picture of Tina Brennan in the top corner of the screen atop the headline: “LONDON CAMPUS MURDER”.

NEWS ACHORMAN

The body of a twenty one year old Creative Writing student was found yesterday in the early hours of the morning outside of her Halls of Residence at the University of London. . .


GIRL #2

What is it, Sarah?





NEWS ANCHORMAN

The body has been positively identified as Tina Brennan, and is believed to have been victim to a terrible attack resulting in murder.  Police have released no official statement and are not ruling out the possibility that the murder happened during a botched break-in of the students’ residence.


GIRL #1

Tina, what’s going on? Are you okay?


SARAH

That girl.  I knew her.  We used to be friends.


CUT TO:

Scene 015:


(Int.) Frank’s Home (Kitchen)
20:35





FRANK TURNER





MICHELLE DOWNES

Michelle is sitting at the kitchen table.

Frank is searching his cupboards for glasses, ice and Jack Daniels in various parts of the kitchen.





MICHELLE




I just can’t believe it.





FRANK




No.  I know.  It’s hard. . .





MICHELLE




There were rumours that you two were.  You know.  Involved.





FRANK

[Sighs.]  I won’t lie.  I love her.  I loved her.  I don’t know if she loved me.


MICHELLE

But you two were seeing each other, right?


FRANK

What makes you say that?


MICHELLE

My flat-mate called me.  The police called there looking for me.  They want to question me.  I was already on my way here anyway.  Did you tell them what happened at the Lakes, Frank?


FRANK

No! I told them what we told everybody else.  Stephen went for a walk and went missing.  They probably want to question you because I mentioned your name as one of her old friends.  I mentioned everybody’s.


MICHELLE

Oh.  Frank, maybe it’s time we-

Frank slams Michelle’s whiskey in front of Michelle.





FRANK




No! We sat nothing. . .





MICHELLE




Fine.  [Beat.]  Do the police have any leads yet?





FRANK




I don’t think so.





MICHELLE




Who do you think did it?





FRANK

One of the students? A homicidal maniac? I thought it might be someone along those line. . .


MICHELLE

Thought?


FRANK

I got this just before you arrived.

Frank shows Michelle the e-mail he received.





MICHELLE




That’s fairly freaky.  You going to show the police?




FRANK




It could be anyone. . .





MICHELLE




Even so, maybe you should?





FRANK




Maybe.





MICHELLE




If you don’t, it-





FRANK




What?





MICHELLE




It might seem like you have something to hide?





FRANK




I have.  We all have.





MICHELLE

[Sighs.]  Frank, did you know that Stephen’s grandparents moved up here after he went missing?


FRANK

No, I-


MICHELLE

It just seems weird that you’re up here and so are they. . .


FRANK

What are you trying to say, Michelle?


MICHELLE

Nothing.  I was just thinking out loud.


FRANK

Besides, they’re not the ones that are dead.  Tina is.


CUT TO:

Scene 016:


(Int.) Room 678 - Ibis Hotel


20:45





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

Chambers is sitting on the end of his bed, a towel wrapped around his waist.

Prescott is dialling a number and putting the phone onto loud-speaker.





PRESCOTT




Will he mind us calling so late?





CHAMBERS




Nah.  He’ll appreciate the up-date.

Pinewood answers.





PINEWOOD




Good evening detectives.  How’s it going up there?





PRESCOTT




Fine thank you, sir.





PINEWOOD

I got your faxed report from your questioning of Turner.  Do you think Stephen’s disappearance has anything to do with your case?


CHAMBERS

I can’t see any reason for a possible connection, Chief.  Tina Brennan’s murder, I’d say was an isolated case.


PRECOTT

The lack of apparent motive would suggest so, I have to agree, sir.


PINEWOOD

There’s also a lack of forensic evidence, Detective Prescott.  Opportunist murderers are often sloppy and forgetful.  Whoever killed Tina Brennan knew what they were doing.  Did you tell Turner about the locks?


CHAMBERS

No Chief.  It didn’t seem relevant.  His statement reads that he and the victim were in a relationship.  I didn’t want to add to the confusion.


PINEWOOD

That’s smart.  If we can, we should keep that from the media.  The less they know the better.


CHAMBERS

Yes, Chief.  It looks like we’ve got all we can out of Turner for now.


PINEWOOD

Then I’ll see you back here the day after tomorrow.


PRECOTT

Yes, sir.

Pinewood hangs up the phone.





CHAMBERS




What a waste of our time.





PRESCOTT




I don’t think so.  It was necessary.




CHAMBERS

PCs Trentworth and Miller could have done it alone.  We didn’t need to be up here.


PRECOTT

[Sighs:] Good night, Chambers. . .

Prescott stands leaves.

Chambers leans over and dials a number into the hotel phone.





CHAMBERS




Hey baby, did I wake you? So what have you done all day?





CUT TO:

Scene 017:


(Ext.) Kenny Residence


21:15





POLICEMAN #1





POLICEWOMAN #1

Police sirens loudly mark the arrival of Policeman #1 and Policewoman #1, both Uniform Officers.

They climb out of their car and head down the garden path.





POLICE MAN #1




What are we doing here?





POLICE WOMAN #1




Neighbour called in with a possible disturbance.

Policeman #1 knocks on the door.





POLICE MAN #1




Hello, Mister Kenny? Anybody home?

Policewoman #1 is near by.





POLICE WOMAN #1




Harry! Over here!

Policeman #1 hurries over to the front window.

Inside, on the floor, we see two elderly people – Oscar and Harriett Kenny – lying beaten to death.





POLICE MAN #1




Oh my god. . .





CUT TO:

Scene 018:


(Int.) Frank’s Home – Kitchen

21:30





FRANK TURNER





MICHELLE DOWNES

Frank and Michelle are still together at the kitchen table.

FRANK

I can’t believe you’re accusing me of stalking our dead friend’s grandparents!


MICHELLE

I’m not! I just want some answers!

There’s a loud click from Michelle’s bag.





FRANK




What the fuck is that?

Michelle closes her eyes, knowing she’s been caught.

Frank snatches her handbag and pulls out a Dictaphone.

On the back, it reads “Property of The Guardian”.





FRANK




You sneaky bitch!





MICHELLE




Frank, I can explain! It’s not what you think. . .





FRANK

You work for a newspaper in London, and wanted some exclusive quotes, if not an entire confession, from the victim’s boyfriend?!

MICHELLE

Oh.  Well.  Actually, yes. . .

Frank throws the Dictaphone against the wall, smashing it.





FRANK




Get out of my house, Michelle!
MICHELLE




Frank, I-





FRANK




GET OUT!

Michelle picks up her bag and heads for the door.

She opens it and slams it shut behind her.

Michelle stops outside and looks into her bag.

Another Dictaphone, the “REC” button pushed down.  She smiles and pushes stop before walking away.





CUT TO:

Scene 019:


(Int.) Room 12 – Nancy’s B&B

22:45





MICHELLE DOWNES





OTIS PRESTON





THE GUY

It’s pouring down outside, and Michelle enters the room absolutely soaked.

She slams the door, locks it, and leans against it with a heavy sigh.





MICHELLE




Otis? You here?

No reply.





MICHELLE




Guess not. . .

She moves toward her double bed, throwing her bag and coat on it.

She then goes into the small en suite shower room and switches the light and shower on.
She moves back into the main room and starts to undress.
Unbeknownst to her, we can see something standing in the window behind her, next to the shower room.  A dark hoody covering someone’s face.  Then, it leaves.

A pounding knock at the door.  Michelle jumps from fright.

She puts her blouse back on and moves to the door.

She unlocks the door and pulls it open.  Nobody is there.

She steps outside and looks around along the landing.  Nobody.

She shrugs and turns back inside.

Michelle closes the door, locking it again.

She starts to undress again as another pounding comes from the door.

Slowly, nervously, Michelle unlocks and opens the door again.

This time, her boyfriend, Otis, is standing there.  He’s soaked too.
He enters the room, and Michelle locks the door behind him.





MICHELLE




Where’ve you been?

OTIS

I went to catch up with some friends while we were up here.  How did the interview go?

MICHELLE

Not so good.  Frank found one of my Dictaphones.  He got so angry, I thought he was going to kill me or something!

OTIS

I hope you took your spare.



MICHELLE

[With a smile.]  I’m not a fool, Otis.



OTIS

I know you’re not.  [He kisses her.]



MICHELLE

Not now, Otis.  I need to shower.  My hair’s filthy from the rain.

OTIS

Can I join you?



MICHELLE

This is a getting-clean kind of shower.  Not a getting-dirty kind of shower.



OTIS

I see.

Michelle kisses him and then gazes into him with a smile.





MICHELLE




I love you, Otis.

OTIS




I love you too, sweet heart.

Michelle leaves him and enters the en suite shower room.

She locks the door.

Otis smiles and moves to the locked en suite door, his back to the window where the figure appeared before.





OTIS




I can’t believe you locked the door!





MICHELLE

That’s because I know you’re a pervert and you’d watch me.





OTIS




[Laughs.]  I’m no such thing.

MICHELLE

We’ve been engaged for a year, Otis.  I think I know you better than you expect.

OTIS

Well-

Suddenly, the window behind Otis breaks in-ward, Otis is dragged out, screaming.

His screams fall silent.





MICHELLE




[From within:] Otis? Otis!

Michelle unlocks the door and enters the main room with just a towel around her.

She sees the window is broken.  Slowly moving toward it, we see a tear falling down Michelle’s face.

MICHELLE




Otis?

A series of clicks behind her.  She turns as the door is unlocked and opens.

Nobody is standing there.

Michelle runs for the door and slams it shut again.  She locks it and puts the chain across too.





MICHELLE




OTIS! Where the fuck are you?

More clicks.  She steps away from the door.

We move away from her and into the lock on the door.

The mechanism is turning and pinging on its own, unlocking the door.

We move back into Michelle’s room as the door is pushed open, but held shut by the chain.





MICHELLE




Who the fuck is it?!

Michelle is hysterical now.

She watches as the chain moves itself out of place and the door opens suddenly with a gust of wind.

Michelle now sees a figure standing there.  The Guy from Scene 003.

Michelle screams.  The Guy steps into the room.

Michelle rushes back toward the en suite, cutting her feet on the glass on the floor from the window.  She slams the en suite shower door shut and locks it.

Picking up the toilet brush holder, she waits for The Guy to unlock this door too.

And he does.  The door opens slowly, and as The Guy enters, Michelle whacks him in the head with the toilet brush holder.

The Guy hits the ground, and Michelle rushes from the en suite.  She tries to slam the door shut, but it smacks against The Guy’s head.

She stops in the main room and looks back.  The Guy is still lying there.

She looks at the bed, seeing her clothes.  She bites her lip and drops her towel quickly. 

Michelle manages to put on her blouse and reaches for her pants.

As she’s putting one leg on, she sees The Guy move and get to his feet.  She tries to hurry, and falls down.

The Guy enters the main room and Michelle screams out loudly.

She scrambles to her feet, forgetting about her pants, and rushes out of the open door and out onto the out-side landing.  Heading for the stairs, she’s banging on every door and screaming for help.

The Guy walks calmly out onto the landing.

She slips on the wet tiling and falls to the ground, cracking her head on the tiling.

She’s there for a moment, bleeding and dizzy.

The Guy has caught up with her.  He drags her up by her hair, delivering a devastating punch to her face.

He allows her body to fall to the ground with a slap, before dragging her up again.

She’s screaming.  A door near by opens.  The Guy glares at it, and it slams shut again and locks.

It seems everybody in the rooms along the landing can’t get out of their rooms to help.

The Guy pushes Michelle up against the railing.  He pushes his two thumbs into Michelle’s throat, and now she can’t scream.  Her eyes bulge, and just before she dies, The Guy takes hold of her head, punches her one last time and then twists her neck until it snaps.

Michelle’s body falls to the ground, a flash from something, and The Guy walks away.

When he’s gone down the stairs near by and into the rain, the doors suddenly fly open, and a woman comes out, sees Michelle’s body and screams out loud.





CUT TO:

Scene 020:


(Int.) Kenny Residence – Living room
07:45




DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT





PC CHERYL TRENTWORTH





PC PAUL MILLER

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

Chambers and Prescott arrive in the living-room.  Trentworth and Miller are already there, as are Forensics and Crimescene Photographers.





CHAMBERS




What is it? This isn’t really our case.





TRENTWORTH




Actually, Chambers, it is.





PRESCOTT




What do you mean?





MILLER

Both victims were in their 80s.  And both grandparents to guess who. . .




CHAMBERS

I’ve never liked guessing games, PC Miller.  So how about you cut the bull-shit and get to it?


PRECOTT

Stephen Kenny?


CHAMBERS

The boy who went missing from Turner’s camping trip three years ago?


MILLER

Yes, sir.

PRESCOTT




Jesus Christ. . .





CHAMBERS

Okay look.  I want copies of any Crimescene photographs, photographs or descriptions of any evidence.  Forensic or otherwise.  I need you to track down Frank Turner.  We need the full names and addresses of everybody who was on that camping trip with him.

Chambers’ phone rings out.





CHAMBERS




Excuse me. . .

Chambers pulls out his phone.





CHAMBERS




Hello?

The ringing comes again.

Chambers fumbles and pulls out another phone, putting the other one back in his pocket.

Prescott frowns at this.

Finally, he answers and walks into the hallway.  Pinewood is on the other end of the phone.





PINEWOOD

Yorkshire Police were on the phone this morning.  I take it you’ve heard?


CHAMBERS

Yes, Chief.  We’re at the Crimescene now.


PINEWOOD

Good.  What shape is the body in? Yorkshire Police didn’t give much away. . .


CHAMBERS

Body Chief? There were two victims.


PINEWOOD

I was told she was the only one. . .


CHAMBERS

She? She who?


PINEWOOD

Michelle Downes.



CHAMBERS

Who’s Michelle Downes?



PINEWOOD

One of Frank Turner’s old high school friends.  Chambers, where are you?



CHAMBERS

I’m at the home of two more victims.  Stephen Kenny’s grandparents.



PINEWOOD

Shit.  [Beat.]  Look, I need you and Prescott to get to Nancy’s Bed & Breakfast ASAP.  That’s where Michelle was staying.



CHAMBERS

Yes, Chief.



PINEWOOD

Call me when you know more.



CHAMBERS

Will do.

Chambers hangs up.

He goes back into the living room.

CHAMBERS

Precott, we gotta go.  Trentworth, Miller, find Turner and bring him to the station.  We’ll meet you there.


CUT TO:

Scene 021:


(Ext.) Exterior Landing – Nancy’s B&B
08:05  &
Scene 022:


(Int.) Room 12 – Nancy’s B&B

08:06





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT





DETECTIVE TIMOTHY STONE





CRIMESCENE PHOTOGRAPHER

Prescott and Chambers approach the body of Michelle, a Crimescene Photographer snapping images of and around it.





CHAMBERS

We’re here from the Met.  What room was the victim staying in?


CRIMESCENE PHOTOGRAPHER

Room Twelve.

Chambers starts to walk away.





PRESCOTT




Thank you.

Prescott follows.

Chambers and Prescott enter Room 12.

Chambers finds the Dictaphone on the bed, while Prescott looks at the rest of the room.

Stone steps out from the shadows of the en-suite shower room.





STONE




Can I help you?





CHAMBERS

My name’s Detective Chambers, and this is Detective Prescott.  We’re from the Met.  Your DCI should have told you we were coming.


STONE

Now that you mention it.  He didn’t.


PRESCOTT

We have reason to believe this murder is connected to a case we’re working on.


STONE

Connected how?


CHAMBERS

There’s a possibility that the perpetrator is the same person.


STONE

I see.

Chambers pushes “REWIND” then “PLAY” on the Dictaphone.

They here Frank and Michelle arguing.

Chambers pushes “STOP”.





STONE




Any idea who that is she’s arguing with?





PRESCOTT




That’s Frank Turner.





CHAMBERS

He’s the link here.  He was the last person to see Tina Brennan, the victim in London, alive.  Also seems he has a very bad temper.


PRESCOTT

Saw her alive? He saw her over a web-cam.  That’s hardly in person.


CHAMBERS

No.  But she was alive.


STONE

So he’s a possible suspect?


CHAMBERS

It’s possible, yes.  We’ll take him in for questioning.


STONE

Well while you do that, I’ll speak to the boyfriend.  Looks like we’re going to have to cooperate with each other here.


PRESCOTT

I’m sorry. . . boyfriend?


STONE

Michelle Downes’ boyfriend.  Otis Preston.  He was attacked here last night.  Beaten pretty bad.  But he’s still alive.  Police found him ‘round back.


CHAMBERS

We weren’t aware of that. . .


PRESCOTT

We should rendezvous with Trentworth and Miller.  See if they found Turner.


CHAMBERS

You’re right.  See you around, Detective. . .


STONE

Sorry, Stone.  Timmy Stone.


CHAMBERS

Let us know if you find anything interesting. . .


STONE

Yeah, you too.

Chambers and Prescott head for the door.





PRESCOTT




Good bye, detective.





STONE




Bye, now.





CUT TO:

UNIVERSITY OF WALES

Scene 023:


(Int.) Andrew’s Room – Uni Halls

09:30





ANDREW FARNHAM





SARAH MEADOWS





RACHAEL PARKER

A knock at the door, and Andrew answers it.  Sarah is standing there with an awkward smile.





ANDREW




Oh my god. . .





SARAH




Hello, Andrew. . . 





ANDREW




Sarah, what are you- come in. . .





SARAH




I’m not staying.  I drove here on my way to Leeds.





ANDREW




Why Leeds?





SARAH




Has nobody contacted you?





ANDREW




About what?





SARAH




[Sighs.]  Andrew, Tina’s dead.





ANDREW




I know, I heard.  But why Leeds?





SARAH




Andrew-

Andrew’s girlfriend, Rachael, comes to the door.





RACHAEL




Andrew, baby, who is it?





ANDREW




Rachael, this is Sarah.  Sarah, this is Rachael.  My girlfriend.





SARAH




It’s nice to meet you.





RACHAEL




You too. . .



SARAH

I’m sorry to do this, but. . .  Andrew.  Tina’s not the only one.



ANDREW

What do you mean?



SARAH

Michelle’s dead too.  They found her body this morning.

ANDREW

Oh my god. . .



RACHAEL

Andrew, what’s going on?

SARAH

They also found the bodies of Oscar and Harriet Kenny.  Stephen’s grandparents.



ANDREW

Fuck. . .



RACHAEL

I don’t understand. . .

SARAH

The police want us to co-operate.  They want us to go to Leeds for questioning and possible protection.   But they think it’s Frank.

ANDREW

Frank?!


SARAH

Charlie’s already on his way down from Scotland.  If you don’t come with me, then they’ll come to get you.  I think you’ll agree coming voluntarily is better.



ANDREW

Yeah, but-



SARAH

Andrew, our friends are being murdered.  We have to help.



ANDREW

Yeah.  Yeah, let me pack a few things.

RACHAEL

What’s going on?



SARAH

Hurry.


CUT TO:

Scene 024:


(Int.) Interrogation Room – P/Station
09:40





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT





DETECTIVE TIMOTHY STONE





FRANK TURNER





SOLICITOR

Frank is sitting at the interview table next to his Solicitor, opposite the three detectives.





CHAMBERS

Frank, your voice is heard on the victim’s Dictaphone arguing with her.  You were angry because she tried to record your conversation.

FRANK

I smashed her Dictaphone! How did she- She must have had two.  The fucking bitch.



SOLICITOR

We’d like that stricken from the tape.



STONE

No chance.



FRANK

Look, yeah I was angry.  But I’m not a killer.



STONE

Really? See, we don’t believe you.

CHAMBERS

Did you kill Tina Brennan as well?



FRANK

How could I have done that? I loved her! I was talking to her from my computer while she was murdered!



PRESCOTT
That stumped us too, Frank.



STONE
Until we looked at your mobile phone records.



PRECOTT
We found several WAP connections to an Instant Messaging site called Instant I-M.  Ringing any bells? Or any alarms?

FRANK

So. . . That means nothing!



CHAMBERS

Oh, it means a lot.  We looked a little further, and guess what? We found that your Instant Message was connecting with Tina Brennan’s during the time of her death.



FRANK

What? No, that’s crazy! I never use WAP to talk to Tina.  I always use my computer so I can use my web cam.



STONE
Your mobile phone has a camera attached.  You can use this as a web cam via Instant I-M.  We’ve got you Frank.

Frank’s Solicitor glares at him for a moment.





FRANK

Look, you’re wrong! Check my incoming phone records.  You’ll see I received an e-mail last night via my phone.  It had a picture of me taken from outside my house, asking who was on the phone after I called a friend.

CHAMBERS

We’ll check on it.



PRESCOTT
But we’re keeping you over night.  [To Frank’s solicitor:]  Any objections?



SOLICITOR

Well-

STONE

Good! We’ll have the phone records first thing in the morning.  Turner, if you’d like to come with me.

Frank stands and Stone escorts him from the room.





FRANK




Get my father down here.  I want him representing me.





STONE

We called.  His temp secretary said he’s out of the country.  With the regular secretary.


FRANK

What?!

Frank and his Solicitor are gone now, Prescott and Chambers are alone.





PRESCOTT




That man is a masochist.





CHAMBERS

Nah, he just enjoys his job.  His DCI said he’s the best detective he’s got.


PRESCOTT

Titles and accreditations mean nothing, Chambers.


CHAMBERS

Depends who’s asking I suppose.  You think he did it? Frank I mean. . .


PRESCOTT

It seems that way.  But no.  No I don’t.


CHAMBERS

You work out of instinct, Prescott.  That’s nice.  That’s warm.  Not like the cold place Stone and I work from. . .

Chambers says no more, stands and leaves.





CUT TO:

Scene 025:


(Int.) Lobby – Best Western Hotel

20:10





CHARLIE SHEPHERD





ANDREW FARNHAM





SARAH MEADOWS





RACHAEL PARKER
Charlie is seated on a sofa in the corner when Andrew, Sarah and Rachael enter the Lobby.

Sarah drops her bags, runs to Charlie and holds him close, with tears in her eyes.





CHARLIE




Lord, I’ve missed you.





SARAH




I have too.





CHARLIE




[To Andrew:]  Hey. . .





ANDREW




Hello, Charlie.





CHARLIE




Who’s she?





RACHAEL




She is Rachael.  And Rachael is Andrew’s girlfriend.


CHARLIE




That’s great.  We always thought he was gay.

ANDREW




Very funny.





CHARLIE




No, really.

SARAH

Oh come on, boys.  Not now.  Look, we have to go see the police tomorrow morning.  So I suggest we all get some rest, okay?



CHARLIE

They only had two rooms left, okay? Looks like we’re gonna have to share.



ANDREW

Fair enough.



CHARLIE

Here.  This is for you two.

Charlie hands Andrew and Rachael their key.





CHARLIE




The rooms are right next to each other.





SARAH

I hope there are two single beds in our room, Charlie.

CHARLIE




They only had two double-rooms left.

SARAH




I’ll bet. . .

They start to walk toward the elevator.





CUT TO:

Scene 026:


(Int.) Ward B2 – Leeds Hospital

21:10





OTIS PRESTON

We see Otis lying in his bed, tears streaming down his face, looking at a picture on his mobile phone of Michelle and him together.

His mobile phone rings out.  “You have 1 new e-mail”.  Otis clicks read.

He sees a photograph now of Michelle, bloody and beaten.

Otis jumps up out of his bed.





CUT TO:

Scene 027:


(Int.) Room 134 – Best Western Hotel
21:20





ANDREW FARNHAM





RACHAEL PARKER

Rachael and Andrew are lying on their double bed.

Rachael is resting on Andrew’s chest.  Andrew’s mind is obviously elsewhere.





RACHAEL




What are you thinking?





ANDREW




Hm? I’m sorry, what?





RACHAEL




I said, what are you thinking?

ANDREW

It’s just weird.  People I know are dying.  I don’t know how I’m supposed to feel.

RACHAEL

They’re not just dying, Andrew.  They’re being murdered.



ANDREW

Rachael, there’s something I should tell you.  In case something happens to me.



RACHAEL

Andrew, stop it! You’re scaring me now!



ANDREW

[Sitting up:]  Just listen! Please?


RACHAEL

Okay. . .





ANDREW

Okay.  I guess it started three years ago. . .


CUT TO:

THE LAKE DISTRICT - THREE YEARS EARLIER.

Scene 028:


(Ext.) Woods
- Lake District

20:15





CHARLIE SHEPHERD





SARAH MEADOWS





ANDREW FARNHAM





STEPHEN KENNY





MICHELLE DOWNES





FRANK TURNER





TINA BRENNAN

They are all walking through the woods, everywhere is dark, and they each have a torch.

Sarah is clinging to Charlie, Tina to Frank and Michelle to Andrew.  Stephen is behind, on his own. 

Up here, the wind is very strong.





CHARLIE




Hey, look at this!

In front of them is an old, decrepit wooden shack.  Tiny, with one floor.





TINA




What is it?





CHARLIE




Only one way to find out. . .





SARAH




No.  I am not going in there.

CHARLIE




Oh come on, it’ll be fun!





STEPHEN




Yeah, Sarah.  What are you so afraid of?

CHARLIE

Well what’s this? Little Stephen Kenny growing a pair?





MICHELLE




Leave him alone, Charlie.





ANDREW

We should be getting back to the camp site anyway.  We could get lost.





FRANK

Oh come on, a few minutes more won’t harm any of us.  Just a quick look then we’ll go back.



CHARLIE

Good!

They all begin to walk toward the house.

A loud bang somewhere.  Everyone screams, even Charlie.

They see something half-hidden by earth.  Something with steps leading down to a door.

They all approach it slowly.





TINA




Is that a-





MICHELLE




I think it’s an Anderson shelter.





SARAH

Who’s Anderson and why does he have a shelter way out here?





FRANK

It’s an out-door shelter they had in World War II.

CHARLIE




Let’s take a look, then.





SARAH




No, let’s go back.





TINA




Yeah, come on guys, it’s getting late.

STEPHEN

[Stepping next to Charlie.  Over enthused:] No! Come on, guys, just a quick look!

Charlie and Stephen step down the stairs toward the creaking metal door.

Stephen turns the door handle, and the inside handle falls off.

STEPHEN




Hasn’t kept well, has it?!

Charlie, with a wicked smirk, thrusts Stephen in and slams the door shut, sealing Stephen inside.

Stephen is slamming against the door becoming hysterical.





TINA




Charlie, let him out!





CHARLIE

Oh come on, it’ll do him good.  Bit of the fear factor.  We’ll come and get him in the morning.



MICHELLE

No! Let him out now!

Sarah steps forward and is about to come down the steps, but Charlie slaps her back, a reflex.  An accident.

She falls to the ground, in the mud, her nose bleeding.





CHARLIE




Oh, baby, I’m so sorry!

Sarah stands and runs off.

Charlie is about to chase after, but Michelle stops him.





TINA




Sarah, wait!

Tina and Michelle run off after Sarah.





FRANK




Tina, no! Wait! I’m coming!

Frank follows them.

Andrew and Charlie are left with the pounding and crying of Stephen.





CHARLIE

Stephen, shut the fuck up! We’ll come back for you tomorrow morning!

ANDREW

Charlie, is he going to be okay in there?

CHARLIE

Yeah.  One night won’t do him any harm.

Charlie and Andrew walk away.





CUT TO:

THE NEXT DAY

Scene 029:


(Ext.) Woods
- Lake District

18:30





CHARLIE SHEPHERD





FRANK TURNER





ANDREW FARNHAM





TINA BRENNAN





MICHELLE DOWNES





SARAH MEADOWS

The group are searching the woods frantically.





CHARLIE




STEPHEN!





SARAH




[Crying:]  I can’t believe we can’t find it.





CHARLIE




Shut up, Sarah.  We’ll find him.





TINA




He’s been out here all night.





CHARLIE




Shut up, you bitch!

FRANK




Hey! Don’t talk to her like that!

CHARLIE




Oh, you want to step up do you?





MICHELLE

Oh my god. . . do you really think this is the time for macho-ism? Stephen is lost and locked in an air-raid shelter somewhere.  If we don’t find him then he could die!



ANDREW

We’ve been looking all day! The sun’s gonna go down soon.



CHARLIE

We keep going.

The day fell away, and the night dawned the moon.





SARAH




STEPHEN! STEPHEN, WHERE ARE YOU?

Our team are shouting out his name at various points.





TINA




We’ve lost him! We’ve lost him!

The group stops.  The girls begin to cry.

Frank fights back his tears, too.





CHARLIE




Okay, here’s what we tell the police. . .





ANDREW




We’re giving up?

CHARLIE

LET ME FINISH! [Beat.]  If we can’t find him, we tell the police he went out on his own for a walk.  And he never came back.

TINA

No way! We can’t!



CHARLIE

Do you wanna spend your entire 20s in prison? No! And neither do I! So this is what we tell them.  Agreed?

Everyone hesitates.

There are a few nods.





CUT TO:

THE PRESENT DAY

Scene 030:


(Int.) Rm 134 & Rm 135 – Best Western Hotel 20:30




ANDREW FARNHAM





RACHAEL PARKER





SARAH MEADOWS





CHARLIE SHEPHERD

Rachael is sitting there, almost in tears.





ANDREW




We lost him.





RACHAEL




No.  No, it was an accident.  You were kids.

ANDREW

We locked him in a shelter and we couldn’t find it again!



RACHAEL

You think it’s him don’t you. . .

ANDREW

Who?



RACHAEL

Stephen Kenny.  You think he found a way out and he’s coming back for you all.  Don’t you?

ANDREW

[Sniggers:]  Yeah.  Yes, I do.

In Room 135, we find Sarah and Charlie.

Sarah is fast asleep in bed.

Charlie is sitting on the end of the bed, watching the TV with the volume low.

Back in Room 134:

Now Andrew is fast asleep on top of his bed.

Rachael watches for a few moments, kisses him then heads toward the bathroom.

She enters and turns on the shower.

While she’s brushing her teeth, the bathroom door slams shut and locks.

Rachael moves toward it and tries to unlock it but it won’t budge.





RACHAEL




Very funny, Andrew! Let me out, yeah?!

A loud bang against the door and Rachael jumps backward with a gasp.





RACHAEL




Andrew? Andrew, what are you doing?

Another loud bang against the door and the wood begins to splinter.

Rachael screams again.

The next bang, and the door breaks inward.

Something flies at Rachael, knocking her to the ground.

Regaining her senses, she discovers that it’s the dead body of Andrew.

His neck has been snapped and his eyes have been pushed back further into their sockets.

Rachael screams out in terror.  She sees something move swiftly past the bathroom door to the front door.  Another scream.





CUT TO:

Scene 031:


(Int.) Rm 678 – Ibis Hotel / Hotel Car Park 05:15





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

Chambers gets to the front door, as someone is knocking on it.  He’s still in his underwear from bed.

Pinewood is standing there.

CHAMBERS




Cheif, what are you doing here?





PINEWOOD




Get dressed.





CHAMBERS




It’s five-fifteen.  I just went to bed.





PINEWOOD




I said get dressed.

Out in the car park, Pinewood, Chambers and Prescott are heading for Pinewood’s car.

It’s still dark out here.

PRESCOTT




Sir, if you don’t mind, but what’s this about?





PINEWOOD

I’ve been doing a little digging of my own.  And judging from your case, I agree with you.  This whole thing is framed around the disappearance of Stephen Kenny three years ago.

CHAMBERS

We already have the rest of the living friends of Stephen Kenny’s here in Leeds.  I was planning on speaking to them this morning.



PINEWOOD

Well, you’re too late.  Now there are only two of them left.



CHAMBERS

I don’t follow. . .



PINEWOOD

Andrew Farnham is dead, Chambers.  His body was thrown through a bathroom door onto his girlfriend over at the Best Western Hotel.



PRESCOTT

Oh my god.

PINEWOOD

Whoever is doing this is after those kids, detectives.  And we have to protect them.


CUT TO:

Scene 032:


(Int.) Stone’s Office – P/Station

 05:45

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

DETECTIVE TIMOTHY STONE

RACHAEL PARKER
SARAH MEADOWS

CHARLIE SHEPHERD

OTIS PRESTON

Stone, Chambers, Pinewood are there alone.

PINEWOOD

Since the death of Stephen Kenny’s grandparents, I tried to track down his other family.  No Aunts or Uncles.  His mother died during child-birth.  [Beat.]  But there was a father.



CHAMBERS

Oh?



PINEWOOD

A  Mister Thomas Croft.



PRESCOTT

Different surnames.  Stephen was using his mother’s maiden name?


PINEWOOD

That’s right. . .


PRESCOTT

And where is he now?



PINEWOOD

We don’t know.  We can’t find any records of him after his son went missing.



STONE

Were the two close?



PINEWOOD

No.  Croft left his son when he was five.  I dare say he could even remember him by the time he went missing.



STONE

I see. . .



PINEWOOD

There was one thing though.  Just after the disappearance of Stephen, we found an approved loan application from Capital One for Timothy Croft.  The loan application said that he wanted the money for.  Wait for it.  Facial plastic surgery.



CHAMBERS

Did you find any records of the surgery itself?

PINEWOOD

No.  [Beat.]  What about Frank’s phone records?



CHAMBERS

What he said was true.  He received an e-mail from a mobile phone.

PINEWOOD

Whose?



CHAMBERS

His own.

STONE

His phone was cloned.



PINEWOOD

Then you’re gonna have to let him go.  You’ve got nothing.

A uniformed officer brings in Rachael, Charlie and Sarah.

Rachael’s eyes are red from tears, but her face is now dry.





PINEWOOD




Are you all okay?

RACHAEL




Andrew thought he knew who’s doing this.





SARAH




What?





RACHAEL

Stephen Kenny.  He thought it was Stephen Kenny!





CHARLIE

Stephen Kenny is-  he went missing three years ago.  Why would he-





RACHAEL

Cut the bull-shit you arse-hole! I know.  And it’s about time everybody else did too!



PINEWOOD

Know what?



STONE

What’s going on here?

CHARLIE

Rachael, I’m warning you-



RACHAEL

Fuck you!



CHAMBERS

Can someone explain what’s going on here?!

RACHAEL

Andrew and these two, and the ones who are dead.  They locked Stephen Kenny in an old Anderson shelter somewhere in the woods at the Lake District.



CHARLIE

Shut the fuck up, you bitch!

RACHAEL

No I will not! [Beat.]  They were going to let him out the next day.  But they couldn’t find the shelter again.  And so they left him there.  Told the police and his family that he went for a walk and never came back.



PRESCOTT

[To Charlie:]  Is this true?



CHARLIE

No!



SARAH

Yes, it is, sir.  It’s all true.  All of it.  And there’s not a day that goes by when I don’t feel guilty about what we did.  The part I played in it.



STONE

What do we do now?

PINEWOOD

The only thing we can do.



STONE

Which is?

PINEWOOD

We try to find the shelter.  If Stephen’s body isn’t there, then he’s our prime suspect.  At least we know who we’re looking for.  [Beat.]  Stone, release Frank Turner.  He’s coming with us.

Someone else enters the office.  Otis.





OTIS




I’m coming too.





CUT TO:

FLASHBACK – NOT TOO DISTANT PAST

Scene 033:


(Int.) Kitchen – Unfamiliar House








CHILD #1 





MAN #1

Child #1, a small child, we can’t see clearly.

Man #1, a tall, unshaven, mean-looking man is sitting at a table near by reading the paper.

Child #1 is rooting in the fridge.  It pulls at a carton of milk.  The carton rips and spills all over the floor.

Child #1, we notice, wets itself.

Man #1 stands, angry.





MAN #1




You stupid fucking idiot!

Man #1 grabs Child #1 by the hair and drags it, kicking and screaming, out of the kitchen into the hallway.

Man #1 pulls open the door to the cupboard under the stairs, where it’s pitch black.

CHILD #1




No, daddy! Please, no!

Child #1 is thrown in, and the door is slammed shut and locked.

After a few minutes of banging against the door, Child #1 sits in silence, glaring at the door handle.

The handle begins to move on its own.

Child #1’s stare becomes more intense.  Inside the lock, we see the mechanism pinging and twisting.  The door unlocks and opens on its own.

Child #1 rushes out and sneaks up the stairs and into its bedroom.

The door locks behind it.





CUT TO:

Scene 034:


(Int./Ext.) Starbucks Coffee Shop

 09:45

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

DETECTIVE TIMOTHY STONE

CHARLIE SHEPHERD

RACHAEL PARKER

SARAH MEADOWS
FRANK TURNER

OTIS PRESTON

Otis, Frank, Sarah, Charlie and Rachael are sitting at a table.  Each has a coffee in front of them.

The detectives are sitting at another table nearby.





CHARLIE




I can’t believe you told them!

Charlie tries to keep his voice down, and glances around at the detectives who are deep in their own conversation.





RACHAEL

I had to! So far, the police have had no leads.  This information could help.  If keeping a secret until you die meant that you died right now, would you still keep it?

Charlie sighs.





SARAH




She’s right, Charlie.  We’re free now.

CHARLIE

No we’re not bloody free! If this isn’t Stephen.  If we go to the Lakes tomorrow and find his body decaying in that shelter, then we are murderers.  Murderers don’t walk away from this kind of thing.



RACHAEL

It was an accident!



FRANK

It wasn’t an accident.  Charlie pushed him in there on purpose.  We left him in there.  On purpose.  How is that an accident?



RACHAEL

I just meant that-



SARAH

We know. . . but you’re not a part of this by default.  You’re here because of Andrew.  You don’t know.  How this feels.  What we’re going through.



OTIS

Back off. . .



RACHAEL

No.  She’s right.  Otis and I could walk away from this whole thing.  Wish you luck and leave you all to it.  But we don’t want to.  We want to help.



CHARLIE

Just go home, Rachael.  This is nothing to do with you.



RACHAEL

You know what.  Fuck you, you arrogant prick!

Rachael storms out.  Otis follows.  So does Chambers.

Outside on the street, Otis takes hold of Rachael’s hand and stops her.





OTIS




Where are you going?





RACHAEL




I’m going home.

Chambers comes out now, too.





CHAMBERS




What’s going on? Is everything okay?





RACHAEL

Charlie was right.  This has nothing to do with me now.  I don’t belong here.



OTIS

Yes you do! Your boyfriend was killed by this psycho! You have every right to answers.  Just like they do.



CHAMBERS

Otis is right.  [Beat.  Hands Rachael some keys.]  Here.  I’m staying in room 678.  Go freshen up or have a nap or something.  We’re leaving in the morning.  I’ll stay in DCI Pinewood’s room.



RACHAEL

Are you sure?

CHAMBERS

Yes.  You sure you’ll be okay on your own?



RACHAEL

I’ll be in a policeman’s hotel room.  How unsafe could I be?


CUT TO:

Scene 035:


(Int.) Room 678 – Ibis Hotel


 21:35





RACHAEL PARKER





CHARLIE SHEPHERD

Rachael is in the bath-tub.  A radio in the main room is playing and Rachael is humming away to it.

A knock at the door.  Rachael sits up.  She climbs out and reaches for a towel.

She heads for the door, as she sees the door knob turning.  But it can’t open because it’s locked.  She reaches out for the lock, and the knock comes again.

Rachael screams.





CHARLIE




[From outside:]  Rachael? Rachael, are you okay?

Rachael sighs and unlocks the door.

Charlie’s standing there.  He smiles seeing Rachael in a towel.





CHARLIE

Oh.  I’m sorry.  I didn’t realise you were.  Naked.





RACHAEL

Well I am.  Can I help you? I’m bathing.  Trying to wash off the venom you spat at me this afternoon.



CHARLIE

I just wanted to say that I’m sorry.  About what I said to you.  I was unnecessarily nasty to you.



RACHAEL

Well thank you, but I don’t need your apology.  I will be coming with you tomorrow.

CHARLIE

Well good.  [Steps closer.]  Maybe we can get to know each other a little better?



RACHAEL

Good.  Shall we start with my right hook?



CHARLIE

[Steps back.]  I’ll be leaving then.



RACHAEL

No problem.



CHARLIE

Night.



RACHAEL

Sweet dreams, Charlie.

Charlie walks away while Rachael slams the door shut and bolts it too.

She returns to the main area of the room, and picks up another towel and starts to dry her hair.

She notices a black leather brief case on the bed, ignores it for now.

Until a phone starts to ring in it.  A short ring.  Like an incoming text message

Rachael opens the brief case.  A switched-off mobile phone inside.

A few folders and crime-scene photographs and another mobile phone.

She drops it all onto the bed.  She ignores the phone and opens the folders.

Dental, medical, surgical records for THOMAS CROFT.  She ignores that for now and picks up the phone.

“You have received 1 new e-mail.”

Rachael clicks “Read”.  She can see a picture of her at the door with Charlie, with the message “Guess where. . . ?”.

Rachael drops the phone.

Rachael begins to frantically search the room.  Behind the curtains, in the closet and wardrobes.  Nothing.





CUT TO:

Scene 036:


(Int.) Room 654 – Ibis Hotel


 21:45





RACHAEL PARKER





SARAH MEADOWS





THE GUY





CHARLIE SHEPHERD





POOL GUY #1

Sarah answers the knock at the door, after peering through the peep-hole and seeing Rachael standing there.





RACHAEL




We need to talk.

Rachael enters the room.

Sarah sits on the edge of her bed with Rachael.





SARAH




What’s wrong? Are you okay?





RACHAEL




Really not.





SARAH




What’s happened? Is it Charlie?





RACHAEL




No.  No.  It’s not Charlie.





SARAH




Then what is it?





RACHAEL




I think I know who the killer is.

SARAH




What?





RACHAEL

I’ve been staying in Chambers’ room.  And I found all this.

Rachael tips the contents of the case onto the bed.





SARAH




What is all this?





RACHAEL

Medical records.  Dental records.  Records from plastic surgery appointments and from the actual surgery.

SARAH

I’m not sure I understand.

RACHAEL

Sarah, these records belong to one person.  Thomas Croft.

SARAH

How do I know that name?



RACHAEL

Because it’s Stephen Kenny’s father.



SARAH

Oh my god.  You think Stephen’s father is after us? For what? Like, revenge?



RACHAEL

You don’t understand.  The surgery! I also found two mobile phone’s in Chambers’ case.

SARAH

Oh my god. . .

Rachael nods.





SARAH

You think Chambers is selling mobile phone hand sets from the back of a lorry?



RACHAEL

No.  How did you ever get into University? Think about it.



SARAH

I’m trying. . .



RACHAEL

The police said that Thomas Croft walked out on Stephen when he was five years old.  A few months after Stephen’s disappearance, there was a loan application put forward in Thomas Croft’s name.  The surgery goes ahead, and no more is heard of him after that.  The police also said that Frank’s mobile phone had been cloned.



SARAH

Oh my god. . .



RACHAEL

There’s more.  Do you have a lip stick?
Sarah moves to the dressing room table, above which is a large mirror.

Rachael joins her there and takes the lip stick from Sarah.

Rachael writes down one side of the mirror “T-H-O-M-A-S-C-R-O-F-T”.





SARAH




Thomas Croft.

RACHAEL




Look.

Rachael starts to write in something else that we can’t see yet.

When she’s done, Sarah’s mouth is ajar, tears in her eyes.

The “T-H-O-M-A” now has names next to it.  “Tina, Harriet, Oscar, Michelle, Andrew”.





SARAH




Oh my god.





RACHAEL




Their initials spell out his name.





SARAH




What about the rest of it?

RACHAEL




[Sighs.]  The S. . .




SARAH




S for.  Sarah?





RACHAEL




It follows the pattern.  Yes.





SARAH




Oh my god. . .





RACHAEL

No.  Honey, it’s fine.  [Beat.]  We know who it is now.  We’ll go to Pinewood and tell him.  It’s all over.  You’re going to be fine.

We hear a low clicking.

The girls’ breathes catch and they stay silent.

The front door slowly creaks open.

Rachael and Sarah stand at the bottom of the hallway facing the front door at the end.





SARAH




It’s him.





RACHAEL




Hello?

Rachael starts to walk toward the door.





RACHAEL

Chambers.  If that’s you.  Then we know.  We know it’s you.  So you might as well give it up.

The door slams shut.

The girls both scream.

Rachael reaches out for the door handle and pulls it open.  Nobody is outside.





SARAH




Who’s there?





RACHAEL




Nobody.

Rachael turns around and holds out her hand to Sarah.

Sarah starts to move toward Rachael, when the hooded figure enters the doorway behind.





SARAH




Watch out!

Rachael spins around too late.  The Guy has hold of her, and pushes her up against the wall, knocking her out.

Sarah screams.

The Guy steps inward and the front door slams shut, clicking as it locks.

The Guy steps closer and closer, and begins to run toward her.

Sarah reaches for the closet door near by, and swings it open, The Guy colliding with it and hitting the ground.

She rushes past him to the front door.  Turns the lock, and tries to pull it open, but the lock turns back again and won’t budge.

Sarah turns and runs past The Guy who is getting to his feet.

She runs to the balcony doors and swings them open.

She peers down over the balcony, people moving below by the pool side.

Sarah is crying hysterically.

SARAH




HELP! SOMEONE HELP ME, PLEASE!

The balcony doors on the next room burst open.

Sarah screams, but sees now that Charlie is standing there.





CHARLIE




Sarah? What’s going on?





SARAH




He’s in here! He’s here!





CHARLIE




Oh my god.  I’m coming in!





SARAH




No.  No! Get Prescott or.  Or Pinewood.  But-

She turns back, and The Guy is nowhere to be seen.





CHARLIE




But what? Sarah! But what?





SARAH




Hold on.

Nervous, trying to control her breathing, Sarah re-enters the room.

CHARLIE




No! Wait, Sarah! Wait!

She looks around but can see nothing.

Outside, Charlie is still there.





CHARLIE




Shit!

Charlie rushes back into his room.

Inside, Sarah moves toward the hallway and the front door.

As she does, the closet door swings open, and The Guy has Sarah pinned to the ground.  As he tries to hold her down, Sarah reaches for a vase on the cabinet next to her.

She grabs it and breaks it over The Guy’s head.  Climbing to her feet, she runs for the front door again, still she can’t open it.

She comes back into the room, jumps up onto the bed and runs across it, running out onto the balcony.

The Guy is already on his feet and heading toward her.





SARAH




SOMEONE FUCKING HELP ME!





POOL GUY #1




[From below:] Are you okay, miss?





SARAH




No! Somebody’s-

The Guy covers her mouth and drags her back into the room.

POOL GUY #1




[From below:]  Miss?

A loud snap from inside the room.

Suddenly, Sarah’s body flies over the balcony and falls to the ground below.

People here begin to scream in terror.

Up stairs, The Guy is heading for the door.

Rachael is coming to, but The Guy grabs her head and cracks it against the wall again, enough to make her unconscious.





CUT TO:

Scene 037:


(Int.) Room 655 – Ibis Hotel


 22:00





CHARLIE SHEPHERD





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

Charlie is trying to pull open his door, but the lock won’t move.





CHARLIE




What the fuck?

He hears the screaming outside.

He rushes outside and leans over his balcony.

Sarah’s body is laying there.  On the ground.  Coldly staring back up at him.

Tears form in Charlie’s eyes now.





CHARLIE




Oh my god. . .

He hears the door unlock behind him.  He heads toward it.

As he rushes out into the corridor, he bangs straight into Chambers, Prescott behind him

CHAMBERS




What’s going on?

PRESCOTT




Are you okay?





CHARLIE




It’s Sarah! She’s dead.

Charlie rushes toward the elevator as Pinewood emerges from his room.

Chambers goes toward Sarah’s room.  It’s locked and won’t open.

Chambers kicks it through, and finds Rachael coming to on the floor.

Prescott rushes past him to help her to her feet.





CUT TO:

Scene 038:


(Int.) Lobby/Car Park – Ibis Hotel

23:50

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

RACHAEL PARKER

CHARLIE SHEPHERD

FRANK TURNER

OTIS PRESTON

An ambulance and police cars are outside.

Pinewood, Prescott and Chambers are off to one side talking.

Rachael, Frank, Otis and Charlie are near by.  The boys are talking among themselves, but Rachael is not listening.

She’s listening into Pinewood, Prescott and Chambers’ conversation.

PINEWOOD




Where’s Stone?





CHAMBERS

I don’t know.  He wasn’t in his room.  Maybe this bastard got him.


PINEWOOD

I’ll make a call to his station before we leave. . .

Rachael marches over now.





RACHAEL




This bastard is you, you lying sack of sh-





PINEWOOD




Please keep your voice down!

RACHAEL

This is the man you’re looking for.  Chambers is the murderer.


PRESCOTT

Rachael, please calm down. . .

By this time, Frank, Charlie and Otis have come over.





CHAMBERS




I’m sorry, what?

RACHAEL

I found your two mobile phones and all of Thomas Croft’s records in the brief case in your room.  So.  Thomas Croft, how about you start telling the truth?



CHAMBERS

That brief case isn’t mine.



RACHAEL

Then whose is it?



PRESCOTT
[Moment of confusion:] It’s Stone’s?
Rachael falls silent.





CHAMBERS

He left it there last night when we were going over evidence.





PINEWOOD

I’m gonna call this in.  Chambers, I want you to take this lot to my car.





FRANK




Where are we going?

PINEWOOD

We’re going to make sure the body of Stephen Kenny is in that shelter.



CHARLIE

What? Why?

PINEWOOD

Because if Stone isn’t the perpetrator, and he has been murdered, then we need to eliminate all other possibilities.

Pinewood walks away, taking out his mobile phone.

Chambers follows.





CHAMBERS




Chief, are you sure it’s gonna be safe?





PINEWOOD




Not at all.

Chambers allows Pinewood to walk away.

Now in the car park, Pinewood is putting bags and possessions in the back of his 4x4.

Rachael moves around with her bag, but before she gets to the boot, Pinewood stops her.





PINEWOOD




I’ll take your bag.





RACHAEL




Thank you.

Pinewood takes Rachael’s bag, puts it in and slams the boot closed.

He moves around to the front of the car and climbs in.  We can see that everyone is in the car now: Rachael, Prescott, Chambers, Charlie, Frank, Otis.





CUT TO:

Scene 039:


(Int.) Pinewood’s Car – Motorway

01:30

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

RACHAEL PARKER

CHARLIE SHEPHERD

FRANK TURNER

OTIS PRESTON

Pinewood is driving.

Everybody is asleep, besides Chambers, Rachael, Otis and Prescott.





PRESCOTT




There’s something I don’t understand. . .





PINEWOOD




What’s that?





PRESCOTT

How he got in.  How this guy got through a locked and bolted door, leaving the same way.  With the locks and bolts intact.


RACHAEL

I saw this guy.  It’s like he has some kinda control over them.  Over the locks.  Like he knows how to work them.  With his head or something.


CHAMBERS

That’s impossible.


RACHAEL

I’m finding lately that the impossible is becoming more and more possible.


OTIS

Can we pull over? I need to pee.

PINEWOOD

No.  No chance.  There should be an empty lemonade bottle if you reach into the boot.

Otis sits there a moment.

Pinewood smiles at him through the rear-view.





OTIS




[To himself:]  A lemonade bottle.  Lovely.

Otis reaches over without turning himself around.

He feels around, and as he lifts the empty lemonade bottle.  Under a black blanket we can see a foot with a boot on sticking out of the edge.




CUT TO:

Scene 040:


(Ext.) Lake – Lake District


03:45

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

OTIS PRESTON

RACHAEL PARKER

FRANK TURNER

CHARLIE SHEPHERD

Pinewood’s car pulls up along side the lake.

He climbs out, as do Chambers, Prescott and Otis.

Frank, Rachael and Charlie are still asleep.





PINEWOOD

We’ll set up a camp site and fire in that clearing just there.  Once the sun’s up properly, we’ll start searching.



CHAMBERS

Agreed.



OTIS

Shall we wake the others?

PINEWOOD

No.  They need all the rest they can get.

Pinewood moves to the back of the car and starts to unload some bags and tents.




CUT TO:

Scene 041:


(Ext.) Woods – Lake District

19:45

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

OTIS PRESTON

RACHAEL PARKER

FRANK TURNER

CHARLIE SHEPHERD

The sun is shining down through the trees.

In these woods roam our group of searchers.

They’re far from the camp site now.





PRESCOTT



You recognise anything?





FRANK




No.  [To Charlie:]  Do you?

CHARLIE




No.  I don’t think so.  It was years ago. . .





CHAMBERS




Well you better start recalling.

PINEWOOD

We should head back to the camp site.  It’s going to be dark soon.





RACHAEL




I agree.





OTIS




Makes sense.  We’ll start again in the morning.

PINEWOOD




[Sighs:]  Fine! Let’s go.

The group turns around and heads back toward the camp site.




CUT TO:

Scene 041:


(Ext.) Woods/Lake – Lake District

20:45

DETECTIVE CHIEF INSPECTOR MARTIN PINEWOOD

DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT

OTIS PRESTON

RACHAEL PARKER

FRANK TURNER

CHARLIE SHEPHERD

DETECTIVE TIMOTHY STONE

THE GUY

The camp fire is high and raging.

Everyone is sitting around it.
Prescott is reading through the files found in Stone’s brief case.





PRESCOTT
Apparently, Stephen’s mother was called Paula Kenny.  She was a novelist.  Had a few best sellers.

PINEWOOD

Never heard of her.

PRESCOTT
That’s because she had a pseudonym.  C. F. Thomas.

CHARLIE

[Laughs.]  C. F. Thomas?



PRESCOTT
Named after her husband I guess.  The Thomas part at least.  [Beat.]  I can’t believe this is all Stone.  He seemed so normal.


FRANK

We don’t know that yet!

PINEWOOD

Enough of this shit.  Let’s get some sleep.  We’re out early in the morning.

Pinewood stands.





PINEWOOD

Charlie, Frank, you’re with me.  Chambers, Prescott, you have Otis and Rachael.  Good night.

Pinewood wanders off to his tent, followed by Frank and Charlie.

Chambers stands as do Otis and Rachael.





RACHAEL




We gonna be alright out here?

CHAMBERS

I don’t know, Rachael.  But I’ll be here to protect you.

Far from the clearing, we are now at the lake, the boot of Pinewood’s car begins to open and we see someone step out.

Back in the clearing, inside of Pinewood’s tent, Pinewood is lying down.

Charlie and Frank are getting comfortable next to him in their sleeping bags.





PINEWOOD




You scared, boys?





FRANK




Very.

CHARLIE




If Rachael’s theory is right.  I’m next.





FRANK




Not necessarily.





CHARLIE

Oh come on! I’m the only one here with their name beginning with ‘C’.

FRANK

What about Chambers?

CHARLIE

I forgot about that.

PINEWOOD

Quieten down! Nobody’s going to die.  Not while I’m here.

Outside of the tents, Otis, Prescott and Rachael are about to climb into the tent.

Chambers hears a rustle near by.  He draws his gun and spins around.





PRESCOTT



Chambers, what is it?





CHAMBERS




Take these two inside.

Chambers moves off into the woods, with his gun and a torch.

Prescott stands with Rachael and Otis, her gun now drawn too.
OTIS




Should we go after him?





RACHAEL




He told us to wait here.




PRESCOTT




Be quiet!
Prescott follows Chambers.

Rachael and Otis look at each other for a moment, then head toward the edge of the clearing.

They hear a gun shot and stop.  Rachael screams.

Chambers screams out loud.  Prescott is trying to search the woods from the edge of the clearing.
Pinewood, Charlie and Frank emerge from their tent.

PINEWOOD




What’s going on? Where’s Chambers?





PRESCOTT



He went off.  He heard something.





PINEWOOD




I want you all to stay together, okay.

Pinewood hands Charlie a gun.





PINEWOOD




Be careful with it. 




PRESCOTT




Sir? Should I come wi-





PINEWOOD




Stay here Prescott.  Look after these kids.
Pinewood runs off into the woods.  We follow him into the thick forest.





PINEWOOD




Chambers! Chambers, where are you?!

Pinewood hears a gun shot near by.

He spins around and sees Chambers on the ground.

An arrow through the side of his stomach.

His breathing is heavy and he looks very pale.
PINEWOOD




Oh my god, Chambers. . . I-





CHAMBERS




He’s here.  The killer is.  Here.





PINEWOOD




I’ll call-





CHAMBERS




Get those.  Kids.  Out of.  Here.  Tell my wi-

Chamber’s head slumps to one side and his entire body seems to relax.  Dead.

Pinewood has a tear in his eye now.





PINEWOOD




Chambers. . . I’m so sorry. . . I-

A rustling near by.

Pinewood climbs to his feet and runs back toward the clearing.

We follow him, and the others are still waiting there for him.





RACHAEL




What happened?





PRESCOTT



Where’s Chambers?





PINEWOOD




Chambers is dead.





FRANK




Oh my god. . .
PRESCOTT




No. . .
PINEWOOD




Pack up anything that we need.  We’re leaving now.

Prescott runs into her tent and comes back out with the brief case.

Charlie hands his gun back to Pinewood.





CHARLIE




Where are we-

An arrow pierces Charlie’s back, and protrudes through his chest.

Rachael screams in horror as Charlie’s body hits the ground.





PINEWOOD




Move! MOVE!

Pinewood allows Prescott, Rachael, Otis and Frank to run out of the clearing before following.

Arrows narrowly missing them as they do.

The group runs out through the clearing, out of the woods and to the shore of the lake.
Pinewood’s car is still there as the group run around to it.

Otis rushes around to the driver’s seat and climbs in.

Rachael, Prescott and Frank climb into the back.





OTIS




The keys! Where are the keys?!





PRESCOTT



Pinewood must have them.

Pinewood nears the passenger door.

As he reaches it, an arrow pierces straight through his head.  He collapses against the window.  Everyone screams.  We can see the keys in his hand.

FRANK




Fuck! Fuck! What now?

A banging on the window next to Rachael and she screams out loud.  As do Frank, Prescott and Otis.

It’s Stone.

STONE




Let me in! Let me in the car!





PRESCOTT



No fucking way!





STONE




Let me in you stupid bitch!





FRANK




You’re the prime suspect, man! No way!





STONE

What? No! Just let me in! We need to get out of here.

An arrow comes through the window on the other side, piercing Rachael’s back to the side.

She slumps forward onto Frank, who screams.

Frank leans her against the window, her eyes seem vacant now.




PRESCOTT




Someone start this fucking car!

We see now that Otis is in the front seat trying to hot-wire the car.





STONE




It’s not me! Let me in!

Frank unlocks the door.  Stone climbs into the car and locks the door.

We can see The Guy now approaching the car.

Otis is still struggling to hot-wire the car.
FRANK




Hurry up!





OTIS




Hold on!




PRESCOTT




Otis!

The car starts and Otis floors it.

The Guy grips hold of the bike rack on the door of the boot and holds on as the car speeds off.

Otis is trying to dodge logs on the Lake-shore.

The Guy climbs up onto the roof-rack and lies down.  He moves to the front and shoots his cross bow through the windscreen.

The arrow pierces Otis’ throat.  Stone, Prescott and Frank begin to panic.

The car careers out of control and heads back into the woods.

After a few moments the 4x4 crashes into a tree.  The Guy is flung off the roof of the car and deep into the woods.

Stone, Prescott and Frank are thrust forward, but are not ejected from the car.

Otis’ body hasn’t moved, as the arrow piercing his throat has gone through the chair.

Frank regains his senses, and we see him staring through the broken wind-screen.





FRANK




Oh my god. . .

We can see what he sees now.  The run down shack and the old Anderson shelter.

He climbs out of the car followed by Stone and Prescott.




PRESCOTT




Is this it? [Beat.] Frank! Is this it?

FRANK




This is the place.

Frank, Prescott and Stone enter the clearing where the old shack and Anderson shelter are.

FRANK

We thought it was you, Stone! We thought it was you all this time.

STONE




Why?





PRESCOTT
You went missing back at the hotel.  No one knew where you were.





STONE

Somebody knocked me out.  When I came to I was in the back of Pinewood’s car.  I tried to find you lot, but I couldn’t.  Then I heard the screaming.





PRESCOTT



We found your brief case in Chamber’s room.





STONE




What brief case?





FRANK

Had Thomas Croft’s records in it.  And Stephen’s mother’s death certificate.





STONE




Thomas Croft. . . Stephen Kenny’s father?





PRESCOTT



Chambers said it was yours.





STONE

I never saw Croft’s records.  I thought they were missing.

FRANK




So why did-

STONE




It’s Chambers.  It has to be.





PRESCOTT



Chambers is dead, Stone.





STONE




What?





PRESCOTT



He’s dead.  It can’t be him.





STONE




Where’s the case now?





FRANK




It’s in the car.  With Rachael.

STONE




We should get it.




PRESCOTT

Yeah, we should go back.  I must have dropped my gun the crash.
They turn to go back to the car and see The Guy emerging from the woods.





FRANK




Fuck!
Stone is searching himself for his gun.





STONE




He must have taken it!

FRANK




What now?

STONE




Go inside.  See if there’s an old radio.

FRANK




What about you?





STONE




I’ll try and tackle him-





PRESCOTT
Tackle him? He’s killed nine people!





STONE




I know, I-

Prescott grabs Stone’s arm and drags him toward the run down shack.

They climb up the wooden steps and run inside, locking the door.




CUT TO:

Scene 042:


(Int./Ext.) Shack.Woods – Lake District
21:30




DETECTIVE TIMOTHY STONE





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT





FRANK TURNER





THE GUY





RACHAEL PARKER





DETECTIVE MICHAEL CHAMBERS

Frank, Prescott and Stone rush in, turning the key in the old door.

Frank turns and sees an old Warden’s radio.





FRANK




There’s a radio.





PRESCOTT



Think it will work?




STONE




Just try it!
Frank moves to it and switches the button.  A red light comes on the console.

He pushes the button at the side of the hand set.

FRANK




Hello? Hello, can anyone hear me?

Only crackles and interference come back.

STONE




Try a different frequency!

The key in the lock starts to turn.





STONE




And hurry!

The door is open and The Guy stands there with his cross bow.

He fires it.  It breaks through the Warden’s radio.

Next, he aims it at Frank and fires, but Prescott pushes Frank out of the way, and the arrow sticks into Prescott’s arm.

Frank gets to his feet as The Guy comes in further.  The door slams shut and locks behind him, the key falling through a crack in the wooden floor.

Prescott is back on her feet and Stone kicks the cross-bow from The Guy’s hands.

Frank picks it up and fires it at The Guy, narrowly missing him, but tears his black hoody and the top of his skin.





STONE




Throw it here!

Frank throws the cross bow to Stone, who smacks The Guy in the face with it.

The Guy is down, Frank and Prescott rush to the door.  He searches for the key.





FRANK




Where’s the key?

STONE




I don’t know!

Frank pulls the door repeatedly until one of the wooden panels snaps and breaks off.

Stone passes Frank the crossbow.





STONE




Watch him.  [To Prescott:]  Are you okay?





PRESCOTT




[Ripping her shirt to put pressure on her wound:] I’ll be fine.
Frank turns to point it at The Guy, but he’s nowhere to be seen.





FRANK




Erm. . . he’s gone!

Stone starts to pound and kick at the door, until more of it breaks away.
Prescott gets out through the hole in the door first.
Stone is squeezing through the gap in the door and gets out.

Frank throws the cross bow through and is squeezing through too.

But suddenly he’s pulled back with a scream.

Stone rushes back to the door and peers through.

The Guy snaps Frank’s neck easily and quickly.

The Guy turns, and now with an axe in his hand launches it at the door.  It sticks in the wood, and straight through Stone’s head.
With a startled scream, Prescott turns, running down the steps, but trips as The Guy opens the door and stands looking at Prescott as she picks herself up.

The Guy grabs the axe from the wood in the door and moves toward Prescott.

Prescott, now on her feet, anticipates a sweep with the axe from The Guy, and grabs it.

She forces it back so it hits The Guy in the face.

The Guy’s grip on the axe loosens, and Prescott takes it from him, swinging it around, so it sticks into The Guy’s stomach at the side.

The Guy is down on the floor.

Prescott stands over The Guy for a moment, collecting her thoughts.

She hears rustling behind her.  Branches snapping.  She turns to see.





PRESCOTT



Who’s there?

When Prescott turns back to The Guy, he’s already gone.





PRESCOTT



Shit! [Beat.]  Where are you?!

Prescott turns and sees the shelter there.  The door locked and bolted.

Prescott slowly moves toward it, axe in hand.

She moves down the steps and pulls on the rusting handle.

The door swings open, and dust blooms outward.  This causes Prescott to cough.

She enters and as the dust settles, she sees the decaying corpse of Stephen Kenny in the corner of the shelter.





PRESCOTT



So you are here. . .

The door slams behind her.  Prescott turns.  Chambers is standing there, holding the side of his stomach.





PRESCOTT
Chambers! I thought you were- [Beat.]  Oh my god. . . it is you. . .





CHAMBERS




What? No? 

Prescott raises his axe.





STONE




Fuck you! That’s where I hit you with the axe!

CHAMBERS

No.  That’s where I was shot with an arrow.  Prescott, please we have to get out of here! Now!



PRESCOTT
You’re Stephen Kenny’s father aren’t you!

The two start to circle each other.

Now Prescott’s back is to the door.



CHAMBERS

No. . .



PRESCOTT
TELL THE FUCKING TRUTH!



CHAMBERS

Okay, okay.  I’m his father.  But I’m not the killer!



PRESCOTT
Then why did you have surgery? Why did you change your name?

CHAMBERS

Because I wanted to be the killer! I wanted to find these kids.  To hunt them down.  To kill them like they killed my son.



PRESCOTT
The son you walked out on. . . ?

CHAMBERS

Just because I left, doesn’t mean I stopped caring.


PRESCOTT

Bull shit!


CHAMBERS

Prescott, you have to believe me. . .



PRESCOTT
No fucking way!

Prescott turns to open the door, but finds she can’t.

But the door starts to click open.  Prescott is about to rush out, but The Guy is standing there, cross bow in hand.

He shoots the crossbow, catching Prescott in the side of her chest.




CHAMBERS




No!

Prescott’s body hits the ground.

The Guy glares at Chambers for a while.





CHAMBERS




Who the fuck are you?!

The Guy turns and walks away.

Chambers rushes out as fast as he can, but finds that The Guy is gone.

CHAMBERS




Where are you?!

Chambers spins around and finds himself face-to-face with a gun.

Rachael is wielding it, her back pouring with blood.





RACHAEL




You. . .

CHAMBERS




Rachael, please.  You don’t understand. . .





RACHAEL

I understand perfectly well, you fucking cretin!





CHAMBERS




I don’t think you do. . .





RACHAEL

I figured it all out.  [Beat.]  You’re Stephen Kenny’s father.  Had plastic surgery and changed your name so that you could hunt down and kill the kids that trapped your son here.  And anyone that got in your way!



CHAMBERS

No. . .



RACHAEL

Yes! [Beat.]  And like most psychopaths, you have a desire to get caught.  So, you leave clues.  The first letter of your victim’s names spelled out your name.  Your real name.  Thomas Croft.



CHAMBERS

Rachael, you’re wrong.

RACHAEL

Not bloody likely.

Chambers tries to move closer suddenly, but Rachael shoots him in the chest, shocked that she’s done it.
He falls down to the ground, clutching his chest and trying to breathe.





RACHAEL




It’s.  Over.

Rachael fires one more time, this time directly into Chambers’ head.  He’s dead.
Rachael, gun in hand, enters the open Anderson shelter.  She sees Prescott’s body on the floor and walks past it, to where Stephen Kenny’s rotten corpse is huddled in the farthest corner.

She kneels down in front of him.





RACHAEL

I’m so sorry for what happened to you, Stephen.  I hope you’ve found your way to Heaven.  And to forgiveness.

A coughing and spluttering behind her now.

Rachael turns, gun raised, and sees Prescott getting to her feet.

Rachael runs to assist her.





RACHAEL




I thought you were-





PRESCOTT

Not fucking likely.  Takes more than a man to bring me down. . . [She winces in pain.]  Like a sharp arrow for instance. . .


RACHAEL

I’ll get some help.


PRESCOTT

Don’t leave me here, Rachael.  Please.

Rachael struggles with Prescott up the steps and into the night.





CUT TO:

Scene 043:


(Ext.) Motorway



23:45





RACHAEL PARKER





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT





WOMAN DRIVER

Rachael and Prescott stumble out into the road, as cars drive near.

Rachael flags one down, she’s beaten and bleeding, in floods of tears.  Prescott behind her on the side of the road, shaking and cold.
A car pulls over.  Woman Driver climbs out and moves to the side of the road to help.





WOMAN DRIVER



Good Lord, are you okay?





RACHAEL

No.  All of our friends are-  I need you to get me to a police station.  A-and a hospital.




WOMAN DRIVER



Of course, of course.  Climb in.

Rachael and Woman Driver help Prescott into the back seat.
The car moves away as we watch from here, at the side of the road.





CUT TO:

ONE WEEK LATER

Scene 044:


(Ext.) Cemetery



09:45





RACHAEL PARKER





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT





ROBIN CHAMBERS

The cemetery is filled with police officers in uniform.

A draped coffin is being lowered into the ground.

A family in black mourning the loss of their dead.

The head-stone reads “MARTIN PINEWOOD”.

As the crowd begins to disband, we see Rachael and Prescott remain.

They approach each other.  Both are still badly bruised, wearing bandages were needed.





PRESCOTT




He was a good man.





RACHAEL

I know.  In the short time I knew him, I knew that much at least.


ROBIN

[From behind:] So was my Michael.

Prescott and Rachael turn to see Robin standing there in black, face of stone.





ROBIN




[Sniggers:] Your.  Detective Chambers, I guess.





PRESCOTT




Nobody is disputing that, Mrs Chambers. . .





ROBIN




He has been branded a serial killer, Detective Prescott.





RACHAEL




He killed my-

ROBIN

Michael killed nobody! He wouldn’t have it in him.  He was a good man.


PRESCOTT

I’m sorry for your loss, Mrs Chambers.

Robin begins to walk away.





ROBIN




My Michael was a good man.





CUT TO:

Scene 045:


(Int.) Rachael’s Room – Uni Campus
12:15





RACHAEL PARKER





SYLVIA WILDE

Rachael is packing her things.

Her room-mate, Sylvia, is packing her things too.





RACHAEL




I can’t believe it’s finally over.





SYLVIA

I know. . .  [Beat.]  All those memories, huh? We’ll keep in touch, right?




RACHAEL

Of course.  We live like an hour away from each other.





SYLVIA

Yeah, I know but. . . You’re going to be a Lawyer, and I’m going to be a Doctor.  Think we’ll have much time. . . ?



RACHAEL

We’ll make some time. . .

A car sounds its horn from outside.

Rachael moves to the window.





RACHAEL




It’s my mother. . .

Rachael turns back to Sylvia.





SYLVIA




I’m going to miss you. . .





RACHAEL




Me too, Sylv.

The two girls embrace.

CUT TO:
Scene 046:


(Int.) Rachael’s Room–Parker Residence
12:15





RACHAEL PARKER





JULIA PARKER





DETECTIVE CLAIRE PRESCOTT





THE GUY

Rachael is un-packing her things as her mother, Julia, watches from the door way.
Prescott is sitting on a chair near by, sipping a cup of tea.




JULIA




You need a hand?

RACHAEL




No, mother.  We’re fine thank you.

JULIA




You sure?





RACHAEL




Perfectly. . .





JULIA

You know girls, I know you don’t like talking about this, but. . . [Beat.]  There’s something I don’t understand.





PRESCOTT



What’s that?





JULIA

The way you figured out it was Chambers, erm, Thomas Croft. . . How he spelled out his name with the names of his victims.



RACHAEL

Yeah. . .



JULIA

Well how did he know you were going to be there. . . or Otis or Tim Stone.  Or you, Claire, for that matter. . .
RACHAEL

I don’t understand. . .



JULIA

Oh never mind.  Probably just got my Jessica Fletcher head on.  Looking for things that aren’t there.

PRESCOTT

[Laughs.]  Jessica Fletcher was my idol.


RACHAEL

I guess so, mother. . .

JULIA




I’ll make you some cocoa.




RACHAEL




Thanks mother.




JULIA




You want some, Claire?




PRESCOTT




No thank you Mrs Parker, I’ll be leaving soon.





JULIA




Okay.
Julia leaves the room.




PRESCOTT




I’ve been thinking.  Maybe your mother has a point. . .





RACHAEL




You think?

Prescott, with a frown, moves to Rachael’s mirror and picks up a lip stick from the cabinet beneath it.

She writes TINA, HARRIET, OSCAR, MICHELLE, ANDREW, SARAH, CHARLIE and FRANK on it, circling their first initials.

Suddenly, something hits her.  A realisation.  She starts writing on the mirror again, but this time we don’t see what she’s written.

She steps back with a gasp.  Rachael is still unpacking near her window.





PRESCOTT




Rachael. . .





RACHAEL




Yeah?

Rachael looks toward the mirror.





RACHAEL




Oh my god. . .

Now we see what else Prescott has written: “C. F. THOMAS”.

Rachael looks out of her window, and looks across the street.  She sees nothing.

Then, something steps from the shadow.  Dark pants and a black hoody: The Guy.

Rachael’s pupils dilate.

The Guy runs straight for Rachael’s house.

There, glaring through that window, Rachael knows there is nothing she can do.

THE END
